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Introduction

Frances Dallam Peter, barely eighteen years old when the Civil War began,
wrote one of the most perceptive eyewitness accounts of the conflict in Ken-

 tucky. Her diary, the only extant published recollection of a female Kentucky
Unionist, records descriptions of daily life in Lexington and observations on
the war from January 1862 to April 1864. Miss Peter’s pages not only in-
clude routine stories of rumor, gossip, and military affairs, but also provide a
clear view of a community severely divided by internecine war.

The Peter diary, portions of which were first published in a limited edi-
tion in 1976, brims with insights into the meaning of the war for Lexing-
tonians in particular and Kentuckians in general. Frances Peter’s account of
the war as seen through her window facing the Little College Lot' (now
called Gratz Park) also offers us the unique reflections of a young woman
whose world was circumscribed by a physical handicap and by the Victorian
middle-class gender system that defined women as delicate and helpless.?

Writing in 1978, historian William C. Davis remarked that Frances’s

An 1855 engraving in Ballou’s (Boston) depicting Lexington as seen from Morrison
Hall looking south. (Audio-Visual Archives, Special Collections and Archives, Uni-
versity of Kentucky Libraries)



Introduction

divided border community functioned during the war, this will prove invalu-
able.” He added that though “Home front’ diaries for most of the North and
South are not all that scarce, . . . there is not that much from Kentucky
diarists, and particularly from Lexingtonians. This is made all the more un-
fortunate by the fact that, although Frankfort may have been the capital,
Lexington was really the center of interest in Civil War Kentucky.”

This edition of Frances Dallam Peter’s Lexington Civil War diary in-
cludes a new interpretive introduction that frames her life and text, more
than two hundred additional diary entries, and hundreds of new annota-
tions. Collectively, this new material adds much fresh military and civilian
detail and considerable social context to that contained in the 1976 edition.
In addition to expanding the breadth and depth of Window on the War, the
opportunity to publish a new edition has enabled the editors to correct errors
in the first edition, to integrate new sources and interpretations, and to pre-
pare the text and annotations in line with modern editorial practice. The last
two decades have witnessed significant changes not only in documentary
editing, but in the writing of local, social, and women’s history as well.

Born in Lexington on January 28, 1843, Miss Peter lived with her parents,
Dr. Robert Peter and Frances Paca Dallam, and never married. The Peters
were prominent residents of the Bluegrass. A native of Cornwall, England,
Dr. Peter (1805-1894) migrated to Baltimore in 1817, then to Pittsburgh,
and in 1832 moved to Lexington, where he emerged as one of America’s
most respected chemists, geologists, and physicians. He was a pioneer in the
field of public health. Awarded the M.D. degree from Transylvania Univer-
sity in 1834, he was promptly appointed chair of chemistry in Morrison
College. In 1838 Dr. Peter was named chair of chemistry and pharmacy at
Transylvania University’s Medical Department, serving in that capacity un-
til shortly before the Civil War. During much of this time Dr. Peter also was
dean and librarian of the medical school, which ranked among the nation’s
best in the antebellum years. Once the war began, he served as U.S. Army
surgeon for troops stationed in Lexington. His wife, Frances, was born near
Lexington in 1815 and descended from the famous Henry, Preston, and
Breckinridge families of Virginia and Kentucky. Mrs. Peter’s great-uncle,
William Paca of Maryland, was among those who signed the Declaration of
Independence. Dr. and Mrs. Peter had eleven children.*

The Peters lived in wartime Lexington, one of Kentucky’s two urban
centers and a city of approximately 9,500 citizens with sharply divided loyal-
ties. Dr. Peter’s responsibilities as medical officer for Lexington’s U.S. mili-
tary hospitals and the proximity of the family’s home on the corner of Market
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children (above, left to right) are William, Ben, Frances and Lettie and (below; left
to right) Lettie, Frances, and Ben. (Audio-Visual Archives, Special Collections and
Archives, University of Kentucky Libraries)




Dr. Robert Peter in the 1840s. (Transylvania University Library)



Introduction

Street and Mechanics Alley to bivouacking troops on the Little College Lot
afforded Frances unusual opportunities to observe the movements of both
Union and Confederate forces as they passed through and occupied Lexing-
ton. Described by a relative as “a talented, charming girl,” Frances (or “Frank”
as her family called her) enjoyed drawing, reading, and writing.’ Surviving
examples of her poetry, short stories, and sketches illustrate a fertile and
creative mind. Her diary entries suggest that she was a keen observer and
outspoken social critic as well.

Unfortunately, Miss Peter was an epileptic and her illness somewhat
curtailed her social activities. However, she did attend Sayre Female Insti-
tute, a respected Lexington academy. The 1850s was a period of transition
in the medical understanding of epilepsy. Heretofore, the medical profession
attributed the affliction to one of various causes—fright, masturbation, drunk-
enness, and other mental frailties. As the Civil War approached, researchers
in Europe developed theories that epilepsy resulted from problems in the
central nervous system and the brain. By 1861 physicians had begun tre-
phining (drilling the skull) in an attempt to find a cure. One report in the
United States asserted that trephining was practiced as far west as St. Louis.
Actually, Dr. Benjamin Dudley, a colleague and close friend of Dr. Peter, had
performed this operation with some success as early as the 1820s. Dr. Dudley
left the Transylvania Medical School about 1850, however, when Frances
was still very young.® With little hope of finding a cure, most epileptics lived
with families or extended families and were unable to integrate into their
communities. Because she was a member of an educated and relatively en-
lightened family, Frances was not subjected to the degree of seclusion that
many epileptics experienced.

Frances Peter’s epilepsy, however, may have contributed to her intro-
spection and her determination to understand the world beyond her family.
To an important degree, the diary served as her means of responding to and
interacting with the outside world. The pages of her diary—scrap paper com-
posed of military hospital supply sheets stitched together with thread—con-
nected Frances to wartime Lexington, a city caught in the midst of dramatic
social change. Her diary succinctly chronicles Kentucky’s invasion by Con-
federates under General Braxton Bragg in August 1862, Lexington’s month-
long occupation by General Edmund Kirby Smith, the trials and tribulations
of her hated “secesh” neighbors, and the emancipation of their black slaves.
But the diary also served as a means for Frances to extend her world, to nego-
tiate the boundaries of a mid-nineteenth-century middle-class woman with a
serious disease that left her marginalized on the fringes of Lexington society.

e xiii®



A poem by Frances Peter (continued on next page) about her favorite oak tree at
Winton, the ancestral estate of her mother’s family. (Evans Collection, Special Col-
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A report card for Frances Peter at age twelve. (Evans Collection, Special Collections
and Archives, University of Kentucky Libraries)



Introduction

Though Frances’s epilepsy restricted her world beyond her home, she
nevertheless expressed no regrets or self-pity. Her diary contains no evidence
of envy or resentment, for example, when her sisters attended the Amateur
Musical Association benefits, promenaded on the sidewalks, or exchanged
gossip with other Union women. Frances’s diary quite amazingly contains
nothing that might be perceived as frustration or disappointment at her
malady. A diary entry suggesting that she actually left her home—her March
7, 1863, report on the decorations at the Aid Society Tableaux—was no
more descriptive or sentimental than other diary entries.” Frances took ad-
vantage of the time afforded by confinement to read newspapers, which al-
lowed her to contribute information to the gossip of the day and to share
knowledge of the war’s events.

Frances Peter’s text offers a relatively unobscured view of the world she
watched closely but from afar on the Little College Lot. Though an outsider,
she wrote from the perspective, and with the voice, of an insider. In their
valuable anthology of American diaries, Randall M. Miller and Linda
Patterson Miller maintain that the majority of American “diarists . . . wrote
to tell about themselves.” “Regardless of its content,” they explain, “a diary is
a way to assert individuality.” Michael O’Brien, who reminds us that we
know surprisingly little about the roughly 20 to 25 percent of adult white
women who remained single in the Old South, maintains that journals or
diaries provided women in general, but unmarried women in particular, cru-
cial voices. They “answered varying needs,” he explains. Frances’s diary speaks
to her need to interpret, explain, reach out, and comprehend the complex
world around her. Like other diarists, Frances could control what she de-
scribed and chose to comment upon. In doing so, she merged the dramatic
events of Civil War Lexington with her own Weltanschauung.?

In clear and precise language, Frances recorded her daily observations of
men, women, and events that literally unfolded outside her window. Her
diary is marked by a general sense of restraint and decorum, and she usually
refrained from recording rumors that may have been considered socially un-
acceptable. Nevertheless, her strong opinions, concerns, and biases do fre-
quently emerge. While Frances Peter, as a participant in her own diary, is less
than dominant, her personal hopes and fears are not entirely missing. Her
frequent militancy and biting remarks about the local “secesh” and Confed-
erates give voice to the private ruminations of other female Kentucky Union-
ists.

Frances’s reports of daily life in Lexington were generally brief and re-
strained. She wrote in simple narrative style to relay facts and kept her com-
ments on each subject to a sentence or two (see, for example, her comments
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Introduction

on the efficacy of U.S. Colored Troops as soldiers on February 4, 1863).° Her
major interest, of course, pertained to events in and around Lexington and
central Kentucky, especially the activities of her neighbors, local authorities,
and Confederate sympathizers. Frances, too, was concerned with military
affairs, especially the comings and goings of her neighbor, Confederate Gen-
eral John Hunt Morgan, the invasion of Kentucky by Confederate Generals
Edmund Kirby Smith and Braxton Bragg, and the efforts of the U.S. Army
to delay or pursue the Confederate advance. Perhaps because Frances was
unattached, she found vicarious pleasure in focusing on exciting events be-
yond the confines of her home. Significantly, she expressed little fear or ex-
citement in her reports of the entrance of Confederate forces into Kentucky
in 1862 and 1863. In a straightforward style she noted Kirby Smith’s 1862
invasion and observed that other Lexingtonians exhibited higher states of
anxiety than she did.

Curiously, Frances’s family members remain relatively minor players in
her diary. Occasionally she mentioned sisters Lettie and Johanna, her mother,
and her brothers. But of all family members, it is Dr. Peter, the family patri-
arch, who appears most often within her pages, primarily because he was
engaged in those activities outside the home that most interested her. Frances
expressed considerable interest in Kentucky politics, and the degree to which
the commonwealth remained loyal to the Union. In fact, the issue of
Kentucky’s loyalty became Frances’s abiding passion. She supported the Union
unflaggingly and resisted the temptation to turn against its cause because of
her differences of opinion with President Abraham Lincoln’s administra-
tion. Frances considered the disloyalty of Kentucky Unionists most grievous,
and this spirited her extended outbursts at such figures as Judge Richard A.
Buckner Jr. (March 14, 1863), antislavery clergyman Henry Ward Beecher
(November 20, 1863), U.S. Senator Garrett Davis (January 16, 1864), and
Colonel Frank Wolford (March 10 and 14, 1864). Frances was most in-
censed by Wolford’s disloyal attacks on President Lincoln in March 1864.
She considered him a former Kentucky Unionist and war hero gone bad.

Frances articulated themes common to Kentucky Unionists. For example,
she vehemently supported the war against the Confederacy but was extremely
wary of perceived or real excesses of constitutional authority by Lincoln.
Like many other Kentucky Unionists, Frances objected initially to the Eman-
cipation Proclamation, the blacks’ emerging sense of freedom and indepen-
dence, and the enlistment of blacks in the U.S. Army. Her racial views thus
approximated those of her “secesh” foes and were consistent with the atti-
tudes of most whites, northern and southern, in the 1860s. Her derisive
comments about “abolitionists” make this point abundantly clear. Gradually,
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however, Frances accepted slavery’s dissolution and the reality of emancipa-
tion. “I for one,” she noted on October 19, 1863, “would not be at all dis-
gusted at having Ky slaves emancipated.” She added “that we are much nearer
emancipation now, than even last year[.] People are getting more accustomed
to the idea, and do not think it near so terrible as they used to. It is rather
significant that at the present writing it is considered nearly if not quite as
cheap to buy negroes as to hire them.” Frances also expressed particular dis-
dain for Copperheads (northern Democrats conciliatory toward the Con-
federacy). Writing, for example, on November 20, 1863, she remarked: “I
think with Gov Bramlette that a man who wont have the Union, unless the
negroes are out of it, is just as bad and as much an enemy to the union cause,
as the secessionist who wont have the Union unless he can have the negro
too.” Though Frances offers us few clues as to the source of her slow accep-
tance of emancipation, she nonetheless came to regard Lincoln’s freeing of
the slaves as a necessary war measure.

Frances’s descriptions of daily events in divided Lexington are the most
vivid of her text and rank among the most salient contributions of this edi-
tion. In a succinct and clear style, she made detailed comments on the inter-
actions of women and men of Lexington’s networks of both “secesh” and
Unionists. They chronicle interactions with various authorities, incidents at
the military hospitals, stories from the countryside, and descriptions of Union
and Confederate soldiers in town, particularly in the vicinity of the Little
College Lot.

Frances’s narrative, of course, reflected her biases. She disdainfully de-
scribed the “secesh” as uniformly conniving and spiteful. On November 7,
1862, for example, Frances blasted Lexington women who sided with the
Confederates for failing to care for wounded soldiers. “The secesh ladies
Consciences (if they have any),” she wrote, “doubtless reproach them for
their own neglect.” Frances described Jack Keiser as “the meanest man in
town” (October 17, 1862), remarked that “Mrs. Basil Duke hissed” (March
21, 1862), and that Lu Robb and Theo Curd hid secrets about Confederate
maneuvers (September 20, 1862). She routinely accused other local “secesh”
of passing letters through the lines and possessing advance knowledge of
Confederate offensives (November 16, 1862).

But Frances reserved her most vituperative remarks and most scathing
judgments for the Morgans—Mrs. Henrietta Morgan and her son John Hunt
Morgan—whose home was barely a block away from hers. Before the war
the Peter and Morgan families were good friends and neighbors, but the
start of hostilities severed the once cordial ties. Frances seemed almost ob-
sessed with the Morgans, speculating about the comings and goings at their
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residence close to the Peters’ home. Not surprisingly, like other Unionists,
she viewed General Morgan as a coward and scoundrel. Writing on January
27, 1864, Frank remarked that Morgan’s “character . . . was always that of a
gambler and libertine, and before this war no gentleman in Lexington would
associate with him.” She wondered “what loyal Kentuckians are there that
would be delighted at the escape of the traitor who pillaged their families,
destroyed their homes, and persecuted them in every way. The outlaw whom
they so often pursued to bring to justice, and who could never be called a
brave man.” Gawking no doubt from her window to observe activities in the
Morgans’ home, Frances recorded the exchange of letters, the secreting of
rebel soldiers, and the response of the Morgans to news of Confederate set-
backs.

But Frances Peter observed many soldiers, not just Lexington’s most
colorful Confederate. Her observations of rebel soldiers in Lexington during
September 1862, for example, rival the oft-quoted descriptions by U.S. Sani-
tary Commission Officer Lewis Steiner and the English observer Lt. Colo-
nel Arthur Fremantle.’® Miss Peter described Kirby Smith’s men as “the tag,
rag & bobtail of the earth” and complained that they apparently “hadnt been
near water since Fort Sumter fell.” She compared the Confederates unfavor-
ably to “our men . . . so clean & gentlemanly looking & looking so well fed”
(September 18, 1862). Though Frances occasionally sympathized with indi-
vidual southern soldiers, she overwhelmingly held them in contempt, blast-
ing the “chivalry” who “expect to have a ‘nigger’ to do everything & if they
can’t get one will do without washing & every thing else rather than help
themselves” (October 7, 1862). Her diary documents stealing by Confeder-
ates as well as a great deal of deprivation and hardship within their ranks.

Frances Peter’s diary also provides a window to Federal troops stationed
in Lexington. Union troops encamped in the Little College Lot close to the
Peters’ home nearly the entire time that Frances kept her diary. In her opin-
ion, the Peters considered most U.S. troops, especially Missourians, Ohio-
ans, Indianans, Pennsylvanians, and Rhode Islanders, to be friendly. She noted,
however, that “the men belonging to the Michigan regiment are not near as
nice. ... There are so many mean fellows among them and more Abolition-
ists than in all the Ohio & Indiana regiments put together. In fact I have
never seen an Ohio Abolitionist yet” (November 15, 1862). In addition to
her commentary on the men she observed, Frances also recorded troop move-
ments in and around Lexington. Her entries provide a ground-level view of
larger military operations and should remind historians that most citizens
caught in the path of the war understood the sweeping campaigns and battles
as a series of small, locally defined skirmishes.

.Xx.
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Frances’s comments and analyses suggest that, despite her affliction, she
was not totally isolated from Lexington’s community of women. Signifi-
cantly, Miss Peter participated fully in a decidedly female network in Lex-
ington that sustained friendships, provided support in times of anxiety, offered
humor to release tension, and monitored the activities of enemies. If viewed
from the interpretive framework of recent writings on women in the Civil
War, divided Lexington contained two such networks: one pro-Confederate
and the other pro-Union. Close reading of Frances’s diary unveils these net-
works. In fact, her unintended description of the activities of these compet-
ing communication systems is Frances’s foremost contribution to the study
of Civil War women.!!

Over the last decade historians such as Catherine Clinton, George Rable,
Nina Silber, Elizabeth D. Leonard, Lee Ann Whites, Drew Gilpin Faust,
and others have argued most convincingly that the Civil War altered not
only antebellum notions of politics, economics, and “race” but the role of
white women as well. Modern historians underscore the adaptability of “gen-
der systems,” the fact that gender roles, socially constructed concepts of ap-
propriate behavior, may and do change over time. War, feminist theorists
argue, is not only an extreme expression of these roles (particularly male) but
also a critical period when existing concepts of acceptable gender roles and
gendered behavior may be questioned and tested. The Civil War, they ex-
plain, was a dynamic period of social change for white women."

Though most Civil War combatants were male (postwar polemicists
indeed dubbed it the “Brothers’ War”), the conflict nonetheless introduced
gender as an important issue and provides historians with a new category of
analysis.!® Historical understanding of the role of Confederate women has
received the greatest attention from scholars. Before the 1980s, historians of
southern white women in the Civil War generally celebrated their loyalty,
enthusiasm, and determination to the “cause.” Though clearly in the shad-
ows of their men, white southern women nevertheless served the Confed-
eracy heroically in many auxiliary capacities—as nurses, producers of war
materiel, farm and plantation managers, and employees of the Confederate
War Department, Post Office, Quartermaster Department, Clothing Bu-
reau, and the offices of the Commissary General and Treasury Department.
Until recently, scholars have interpreted the wartime service of southern
women as an extension of the Victorian gender system of “separate spheres”
for men and women and the “cult of domesticity,” which Barbara Welter has
described as incorporating “piety, purity, submissiveness and domesticity.”
According to, the traditional view, southern white women accepted death,
defeat, and destitution without complaint.*
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The important work of Clinton, Rable, and Faust began a major revi-
sion of this interpretation and launched a vital reexamination of women’s
impact on the war as well as the ways that women defined the war’s effect on
them. The “new” Civil War women’s history questions the degree to which
southern elite women supported the Confederacy and, in doing so, tested
gender boundaries and limits. As the Confederacy crumbled around them,
southern women, forced to accept new and not always comfortable roles,
became disillusioned and disappointed. Their men let them down by failing
to protect them. Lee Ann Whites calls this process the disruption of “the
antebellum gender quid pro quo between white men and women, in which
men had promised to ‘protect’ and women had agreed to ‘obey.” But the war
overturned these assumptions dramatically. Abandoned and left unprotected
by their men in an increasingly “lost cause,” after 1863 southern white women
demanded a return to the safe confines of the antebellum period. They lost
faith and confidence in the Confederacy, the world their men had made.
Though scholars disagree about the influence of female discontent on the
Confederate war effort, the war unquestionably served as a crucible of change
for white women. It forced them to develop new skills, to accept new re-
sponsibilities and, ultimately, to redefine traditional gender roles.**

Northern women have received less attention than their southern sis-
ters from historians, primarily because the war provided northerners fewer
challenges than southerners. Most of the battles occurred in the South and,
of course, white southerners alone experienced their unique “burden” of his-
tory—the traumas of defeat, emancipation, and Reconstruction. Because
northern women endured fewer wartime hardships caused by shortages and
proximity to military campaigns, historians generally have interpreted them,
according to Leonard, as “the weeping widows of the dead.” Yet northern
women experienced the same fundamental disruption caused by the war as
southern women did: the widespread exodus of husbands, sons, and lovers to
the army, in thousands of cases never to return. And like southern females,
northern women assumed new wartime roles, emerging as leaders and man-
agers and as newly empowered heads-of-households. They assumed newfound
roles, Leonard explains, and entered the public sphere. “Above all,” Leonard
writes, they “challenged spatial boundaries in an unprecedented manner,”
thereby expanding their worlds “by travelling far from home to the front, or
by linking in various ways their community undertakings on behalf of the
soldiers to organizations national in scope.” The appearance of northern
women as businesspeople, managers, organizers, and leaders tested Victo-
rian gender assumptions in ways unique to the North. The full significance
of this transformation has yet to be examined by historians. And because of
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her particular circumstances, Frances Peter falls between the interpretive cracks
of extant gender studies. Her experiences thus fit poorly into the “new” Civil
War women’s history.'¢

Unmarried, Frances apparently had no significant relationship with a
male besides her father, Dr. Robert Peter. Ironically, historians of women in
the Civil War have used women’s relationships with their menfolk as frames
of reference, as barometers of the gender battles wrought by the war. Men,
after all, provided economic support, protection, and a public face for the
family, while women ostensibly reciprocated by reproducing, maintaining
households, and overseeing a moral and nurturing atmosphere for the growth
of children. Frances’s significant male relationship, her father, did not change
as a result of the conflict. Throughout the war Dr. Peter remained an ever-
present protective figure within her home. Nor does evidence suggest that
the war significantly challenged Lexington’s patriarchy. Conditions never
required Frances (or provided her with opportunities) to assume new re-
sponsibilities. While the war liberated many women—enabling them to leave
their domiciles and perform war-related work—Frances’s physical condition
blocked her entry into the public world.

Unable to venture far beyond her home and participate fully, along with
sister Lettie, in the Soldier’s Aid Society, at hospitals, and at social functions
sponsored by the military, Frances never had the opportunity to engage in
activities that tested her assumptions about the place of women in society.
Though she never questioned traditional gender roles (or if she did so, they
remain unrecorded in her diary), Frances nonetheless noted the assertiveness
and empowerment of women necessitated by wartime conditions.

Frances described mothers and wives defending their homes and prop-
erty against marauding guerrillas and foragers. Mrs. Martin used a gun to
save her husband’s wagon and to drive Confederates from her home (Octo-
ber 9, 1862). Mrs. J. Wilgus wrestled a weapon from the hands of intruding
soldiers (October 19, 1862). Mrs. Hart Gibson and Miss Ella Duncan inter-
rupted a Unionist political meeting, where the governor was present, with
hisses and disorderly conduct (April 7, 1863). And in the only incident
whereby a woman assumed the power of a man, Frances recorded the case of
Mrs. Breshears, the wife of a Union army surgeon, who reportedly had been
given authority to punish men under her husband’s charge during his ab-
sence (January 26, 1862).

Frances, however, unlike many Confederate female diarists, never suf-
fered overt physical hardships, shortages, or undue emotional trauma from
the war. Aside from the brief mention of her brother’s impulse to enlist in
the U.S. Army (September 18, 1862), she had no known relatives in the
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service and none of her loved ones were in immediate danger of death in
battle. Lack of a close male figure to whom she could express maternal or
spousal concern probably permitted Frances to distance herself from the worst
reality of war: separation by death of a loved one. This possibly accounts for
the rather cavalier narrative voice that she maintained throughout her diary.

Yet even without immediate family in the ranks, the war obviously was
central to Frances’s life in these years. Evidence of the war and its impact
were all around her. Kentucky, Lexington, even the Little College Lot, were
divided in loyalties and were centers of military activity. At different times
from her window Frances observed both U.S. and Confederate troops in
camp and on the march. Though the guns of battle occasionally rang in and
around Lexington, she more commonly defined the war by the presence of
the local “secesh,” the passing of troops in transit, and the movement of the
wounded and sick in and out of the city’s hospitals. Frances’s diary reported
on all of this—and more—but makes little reference to its young author and
none to her disease.

Yet even in her confinement, Frances remained fully aware of local gos-
sip and news. Indeed, neither she nor any of her circle of friends in Lexing-
ton was isolated from current information. Lexington women continued to
build upon an informal network for the discussion of news and the calming
of anxieties. While this network had diverse sources, including newspapers
and local authorities, the grapevine remained strictly informal in operation
and largely feminine in origin. Through her network Frances obtained news
about military campaigns, conflicts between local Unionists and “secesh,”
activities at the military headquarters, political conventions in Frankfort and
Louisville, stories of guerrilla attacks, and events in the more remote Ken-
tucky countryside.

The primary sources that fed Frances’s network apparently were gossip
and stories passed between women as they met in the street, stopped by for
visits, or attended functions together. Frances gathered most of her informa-
tion at home, either at the front door or inside the residence. Her references
to “We heard . . .,” “A woman told us . . .,” and “Mrs. Williams related an
incident to us...” (October 14 and 15, 1862, emphasis added), indicated that
she was part of a group, probably composed of her mother and sisters, who
received information from visitors. When strangers, or passersby, stopped at
the front door of the Peter home, Frances’s father or mother spoke to them
while she listened in (September 18, 1862). On one occasion Frances re-
corded speaking from the doorstep, in a highly uncharacteristic outburst di-
rected at a Confederate prisoner (March 31, 1862). From time to time she
also reported gathering information by innocent eavesdropping: “I overheard
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...” (September 18, 1862), and “A lady overheard Dr Major say . ..” (March
23, 1863).

Newspapers provided Frances her second most important source of in-
formation for her diary. She favored the Cincinnati papers and, after the
Lexington Observer and Reporter began to endorse “copperhead” ideas, Miss
Peter lamented the lack of any staunchly Unionist paper in the common-
wealth. On August 31, 1863, while commenting on newspapers, she recorded
her only statement that might be regarded as an observation on sexual differ-
ences: “[ W]e didn’t get the [Cincinnati] Times, not that I expected it would
have anything in it, but the gentlemen always seem to think so and throw
away many a five cents upon it, and dont get much satisfaction.”

There were still other sources of information for Frances’s diary. Upon
returning home from social gatherings that she could not attend, her sisters
promptly reported the details of dances, fundraisers, and events at the hospi-
tals (May 22, 1863). Lexington’s black population formed another interest-
ing part of Frances’s communication network. Informants for Frances included
the slave girl who belonged to Mrs. Curd, a “secesh” neighbor (October 10,
1862), and an anonymous “black man” (Ocober 12, 1862). Finally, Frances’s
father served as a convenient and rich source for stories and local gossip.
Each night Dr. Peter regaled his family with his own gossip: stories from the
hospitals, military headquarters, and the city administration.

Frances’s network, and the information it communicated to her diary,
thus reveals that Lexington women were neither isolated from nor uninter-
ested in the larger world around them. From Frances’s vantage point on the
Little College Lot, she viewed the frequent assemblage of “secesh” ladies at
Mrs. Morgan’s home when news of her son’s triumphs or tragedies were
received. Frances described the workings of her own network on the occa-
sion of General Morgan’s Ohio Raid (July 2-26, 1863) that threatened Lex-
ington. Miss Peter explained, “As for us we did nothing but sit in the front
door. Annie & Miriam Gratz and ourselves and talk about the news and
what we would do if they did come, and had a deal of fun” (July 6, 1863).

Not surprisingly, the “secesh” ladies did the same thing. Frances in fact
was almost as obsessed with the activities of the “secesh” women as she was
with the comings and goings of Mrs. Morgan. The rival “secesh” used their
network not only for gossip but, more importantly, to pass official informa-
tion, news, and personal letters between themselves and loved ones unable to
return home to Union-occupied Kentucky. Their network often provided
the greatest source of strength for Confederate sympathizers whose intimate
relations were away. When news of a potential southern victory or defeat was
expected, the Unionist and Confederate networks convened. After some
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“secesh” were rounded up by U.S. troops and forced to leave Lexington, Miss
Peter remarked, “The secesh ladies were very much excited and walked the
streets a great deal” (March 14, 1863).

Lizzie Hardin, a “secesh” lady and Confederate sympathizer from
Harrodsburg, noted in her diary the actions of her own network. “Our gloom
though was somewhat enlivened by a great abundance of what was familiarly
called ‘grapevine.” That is, secret Southern intelligence.” The “secesh” net-
work in Harrodsburg relied heavily on information brought by letters from
the Confederacy and from close readings of sympathetic northern newspa-
pers, particularly the Cincinnati Enquirer. In Harrodsburg and Lexington,
the two competing networks rarely interacted. Commenting on relations
between the “secesh” and Unionists, Lizzie observed that she had “never seen
such bitter feelings as there was between the two parties. Social intercourse
had almost ceased.””’

While the two rival female networks rarely spoke, and never looked to
each other for support, in Lexington lines did cross and Frances Peter was
aware of news within the “secesh” camp, sometimes within hours after it hit
the streets. Frances commented frequently on the rude behavior of “secesh”
ladies and noticed that they were often privy to advance warning (whether
true, or not) of a Confederate assault on the city. Despite the intensity of her
animus against the “secesh” ladies, she recorded only one incident of open
violence upon a pro-Confederate woman. When a “secesh” lady or, as Frances
remarked, “rather a rebel individual of the feminine gender, for she disgraced
the name of lady,” confronted a Union guard with “insolent language,” loyal
Lexingtonians gathered and began to throw stones at the woman. They al-
most mobbed her (September 21, 1863).

Unfortunately historians have paid insufficient attention to the kind of
informal female networks that supplied Frances with information for her
diary. Assessing antebellum southern white women’s culture, Joan E. Cashin
has explained that while historians “still know little about how white South-
ern women experienced the self,” her research suggests “how crucial it was
for them to share their emotions with other white women. The exchanges
alleviated loneliness, comforted the weary and the grief-stricken, and af-
forded them many moments of joy.” Wartime conditions no doubt exacer-
bated the need for such contact.’®

Examining women in the Confederacy, Faust uncovered “thousands of
women’s voluntary organizations that appeared in the South for the first
time in response to the demands of war.” In her opinion, these female asso-
ciations “represent a significant locus in the formation of female self-con-
sciousness, for here women saw themselves in groups; here they explored the
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meanings of gender in a way they had not previously been impelled to.”
Important to women’s emerging gender identity, such groups no doubt pro-
vided means for women to share information and provide mutual support.
Frances’s more informal network served much the same functions. Women,
northern and southern, no doubt constructed similar systems of informal
communication.'’

Drawing upon her female network of Unionists for information, com-
radeship, and support, Frances Peter observed life in war-torn central Ken-
tucky. Her diary provides considerable detail and insight into the Civil War
in a hotly contested border state. With a sophistication beyond her years,
Frances recorded her day-to-day impressions of Lexington and rendered
shrewd assessments of men and women caught in the throes of dramatic
social, economic, and political change. From her window, Frances Peter
watched events around her unfold and no doubt pondered her future. Re-
grettably, Frances succumbed to an epileptic seizure before the war’s end and
died on August 5, 1864, at age twenty-one.

Though Frances Peter lost her battle with epilepsy, during her short life
she drew upon her female network to triumph over the limitations of her
confinement. Her insightful diary, which recorded her impressions of life as
a staunch Unionist, underscores the impact of the war on a Kentucky com-
munity. Writing her diary enabled Frances to participate symbolically in the
war, even as just an observer. It provides us with a strategically positioned
window to that war through the gaze of a young woman of intelligence and
substance.
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Frances Dallam Peter died August 5, 1864, eight months before Lee’s surren-

der at Appomattox. (Evans Collection, Special Collections and Archives, Uni-
versity of Kentucky Libraries)



Dr. Robert Peter’s letter to his brother Arthur in Louisville concerning the
death of Frances and asking him to place a notice in the Journal. (Evans Col-
lection, Special Collections and Archives, University of Kentucky Libraries)
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NOTES

1. A helpful map of the Little College Lot including many of the sites men-
tioned in Miss Peter’s diary appeared in “Gratz Park Bids You Welcome,” Louisville
Courier-Journal Magazine, May 25,1958.The original map, drawn by Howard Evans
in 1933, is found in the Evans Papers, Division of Special Collections and Archives,
University of Kentucky.

2. Gail Bederman argues that “Gender was central” to middle class “self-defini-
tion.” It “celebrated true women as pious, maternal guardians of virtue and domestic-
ity.” See Manliness and Civilization: A Cultural History of Gender and Race in the United
States, 1880-1917 (Chicago: Univ. of Chicago Press, 1995), 11.

3. Davis, review of Window on the War: Frances Dallam Peter’s Lexington Civil
War Diary, eds. John David Smith and William Cooper Jr., in Register of the Kentucky
Historical Society 76 (January 1978): 54-55. In his review of the first edition of the
Peter diary in 1979, Robert D. Hoffsommer commented that it was “only the second
diary that I have seen in the past dozen or so more years on life behind the fighting
lines in war-divided Kentucky.” See Civi/ War Times Illustrated 17 (January 1979):
50. Lexington Herald-Leader columnist Don Edwards described the Peter diary as
“good reading, a very human little book of glimpses of a city at war.” See issue of
January 23, 1977. Garold L. Cole included a useful summary of the first edition in
Civil War Eyewitnesses: An Annotated Bibliography of Books and Articles, 1955-1986
(Columbia: Univ. of South Carolina Press, 1988), 135-36. Claudia Lynn Lady relied
on Window on the War in three works: “Six Tri-State Women During the Civil War”
(M.A. thesis, Marshall University, 1981); “Five Tri-State Women During the Civil
War: Day-to-Day Life,” West Virginia History 43 (spring 1982): 189-226; and “Five
Tri-State Women During the Civil War: Views on the War,” ibid. (summer 1982):
303-21.

4. Biographical information on Miss Peter and her parents is contained through-
out the Evans Papers, Special Collections, University of Kentucky Library. See espe-
cially “Description of the Civil War Diary” by Mrs. Catherine Peter Evans; and
memorials to Dr. Robert Peter by William Benjamin Smith, August 1928, and Charles
E. Snow, February 17, 1954. Also see John D. Wright Jr., “Robert Peter and Early
Science in Kentucky” (Ph.D. diss., Columbia University, 1955).

5.This description is by Mrs. Evans, a niece of Miss Peter, cited above.

6. F. Garvin Davenport, Ante-Bellum Kentucky: A Social History, 1800-1860
(Oxford, Ohio: Mississippi Valley Press, 1943), 97-98; Robert Peter, History of the
Medical Department of Transylvania University (Louisville: John P. Morton & Co.,
1905), 21-22. Institutions for the housing of severe epileptics emerged after the
Civil War. The most notable of such facilities opened in Gallipolis, Ohio, in 1891.
(See Owsei Temkin, The Falling Sickness: A History of Epilepsy from the Greeks to the
Beginnings of Modern Neurology [Baltimore: Johns Hopkins Univ. Press, 1971], 255—
95).

7.The entry of March 7, 1863 (“I only went the first night, so I can say nothing
of those shown last night”) suggested that Frances did venture out from time to time,
but that she held this one occasion of no special significance.

8. Miller and Miller, eds., The Book of American Diaries: From Heart and Mind to
Pen to Paper; Day-by-Day Personal Accounts Through the Centuries (New York: Avon
Books, 1995), xiv; O'Brien, ed., An Evening When Alone: Four Journals of Single Women
in the South, 1827-67 (Charlottesville: Univ. Press of Virginia, 1993), 2-3. On the
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special circumstances of unmarried women in the Old South, see Victoria E. Bynum,
Unruly Women: The Politics of Social & Sexual Control in the Old South (Chapel Hill:
Univ. of North Carolina Press, 1992), 42, 44-45, 89-90, 110. For samples from other
wartime Kentucky female diarists, see Susan Lyons Hughes, “My Old Kentucky
Home—At War” (unpublished paper delivered at the Conference on Women and
the Civil War, Hood College, Frederick, Maryland, June 27, 1998, copy in posses-
sion of the editors).

9. In contrast, see the diary entries of Rachel Cormany, whose remarks during
the Confederate occupation of Chambersburg, Pennsylvania, in July 1864, revealed
distress and anxiety. James C. Mohr and Richard E. Winslow, eds., The Cormany
Diaries: A Northern Family in the Civil War (Pittsburgh: Univ. of Pittsburgh Press,
1982).

10. Lewis Steiner’s comments appear in Richard B. Harwell, ed., The Union
Reader (New York: Longmans, Green and Company, 1958), 156—74. Fremantle re-
corded his observations in the travel diary, Three Months in the Southern States, April-
June, 1863 (New York: J. Bradburn, 1864).

11. In The Enclosed Garden: Women and Community in the Evangelical South,
1830-1900 (Chapel Hill: Univ. of North Carolina Press, 1985), Jean E. Friedman
notes the presence of female networks in urban rather than rural environments. See
pages 19, 32, 129.

12. See Clinton, The Other Civil War: American Women in the Nineteenth Century
(New York: Hill and Wang, 1984); Rable, Civi/ Wars: Women and the Crisis of South-
ern Nationalism (Urbana: Univ. of Illinois Press, 1989); Clinton and Silber, eds., Di-
vided Houses: Gender and the Civil War (New York: Oxford Univ. Press, 1992); Leonard,
Yankee Women: Gender Battles in the Civil War (New York: W.W. Norton, 1994);
idem, Al the Daring of the Soldier: Women of the Civil War Armies (New York: W. W.
Norton, 1999); Whites, The Civil War as a Crisis in Gender: Augusta, Georgia, 1860~
1890 (Athens: Univ. of Georgia Press, 1995). Faust’s Mothers of Invention: Women of
the Slaveholding South in the American Civil War (Chapel Hill: Univ. of North Caro-
lina Press, 1996), is the most complete statement of the “new” history of southern
white women in the Civil War. See also her “Trying to Do a Man’s Business: Gender,
Violence, and Slave Management in Civil War Texas,” Gender and History 4 (sum-
mer 1992): 197-214; Southern Stories: Slaveholders in Peace and War (Columbia: Univ.
of Missouri Press, 1992); and Faust, Thavolia Glymph, and Rable, “A Woman’s War:
Southern Women in the Civil War,” in Edward D.C. Campbell Jr., and Kym S. Rice,
eds., 4 Woman’s War: Southern Women, Civil War, and the Confederate Legacy
(Charlottesville: Univ. Press of Virginia, 1996), 1-28. For an insightful critique of
Faust and others, see Margaret Ripley Wolfe, Daughters of Canaan: A Saga of South-
ern Women (Lexington: Univ. Press of Kentucky, 1995), 83-85. Two recent articles
on women in the Civil War include Alice Fahs, “The Feminized Civil War: Gender,
Northern Popular Literature, and the Memory of the War, 1861-1900,” Journal of
American History 85 (March 1999): 1461-94, and S. J. Kleinberg, “Review Essay:
Race, Region, and Gender in American History,” Journal of American Studies 33 (April
1999): 83-88.

13. For an interesting exception, see Lauren Cook Burgess, 4n Uncommon Sol-
dier: The Civil War Letters of Sarah Rosetta Wakeman, alias Pvt. Lyons Wakeman, 153rd
Regiment, New York State Volunteers, 1862-1864 (New York: Oxford Univ. Press, 1994).

14. Faust, “Altars of Sacrifice: Confederate Women and the Narratives of War,”
Journal of American History 76 (March 1990): 1200~1228; idem, Mothers of Inven-
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tion, 80~113; Manisha Sinha, “Louisa Susanna McCord: Spokeswoman of the Mas-
ter Class in Antebellum South Carolina,” in Susan Ostrov Weisser and Jennifer
Fleischner, eds., Feminist Nightmares: Women at Odds, Feminism and the Problem of
Sisterhood (New York: New York Univ. Press, 1994), 62-63; Nancy F. Cott, The Bonds
of Womanhood: “Woman's Sphere” in New England, 1780~1835 (New Haven: Yale Univ.
Press, 1977), 61-62; Welter, “The Cult of True Womanhood, 1820-1860,” American
Quarterly 18 (summer 1966): 152. For some of the best early scholarship on women
and the war, see Francis Butler Simkins and James Welch Patton, Women of the Con-
federacy (Richmond: Garrett and Massie, 1936); Mary Elizabeth Massey, Bonnet Bri-
gades (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1966); Anne Firor Scott, The Southern Lady: From
Pedestal to Politics, 1830-1930 (Chicago: Univ. of Chicago Press, 1970); and Bell
Irvin Wiley, Confederate Women (Westport: Greenwood Press, 1975). For a contex-
tual analysis of this work, see Jean V. Berlin, “Introduction to the Bison Book Edi-
tion,” Mary Elizabeth Massey, Women in the Civil War (Lincoln: Univ. of Nebraska
Press, 1994), vii-xvi.

15. Whites, The Civil War as a Crisis in Gender, 4. Despite the current trend of
women’s historians to emphasize gender-based discontent, two recent works—Daniel
E. Sutherland, ed., A Very Violent Rebel: The Civil War Diary of Ellen Renshaw House
(Knoxville: Univ. of Tennessee Press, 1996), and Gary Gallagher, The Confederate
War (Cambridge: Harvard Univ. Press, 1997)—remind us that a significant portion
of the southern populace, women included, remained faithful to the Confederacy
until 1865.

16. Leonard, Yankee Women, xv, 198. For similar themes, see Nancy Huston,
“Tales of War and Tears of Women,” Women’s Studies International Forum 5 (summer
1982): 271-82; Nancy Grey Osterud, “Rural Women During the Civil War: New
York’s Nanticoke Valley, 1861-1865,” New York History 72 (October 1990): 357-85;
Jane E. Schultz, “The Inhospitable Hospital: Gender and Professionalism in Civil
War Medicine,” Signs 17 (winter 1992): 363-92; Rachel Filene Seidman, “Beyond
Sacrifice: War and Politics on the Pennsylvania Homefront During the Civil War”
(Ph.D. diss., Yale University, 1996). For the merger of gender and nationalism in the
Civil War North, see Jeanie Attie, “Warwork and the Crisis of Domesticity in the
North,” in Clinton and Silber, eds., Divided Houses, 247-59.

17. G. Glenn Clift, ed., The Private War of Lizzie Hardin: A Kentucky Confeder-
ate Girl’s Diary of the Civil War in Kentucky, Virginia, Tennessee, Alabama, and Georgia
(Frankfort: Kentucky Historical Society, 1963), 59, 66, 67, 59.

18. Cashin, ed., Our Common Affairs: Texts from Women in the Old South (Balti-
more: Johns Hopkins Univ. Press, 1996), 18-19.

19. Faust, Mothers of Invention, 24.
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NOTE ON THE TEXT

The Peter diary, located in Box 7 of the Evans Papers, Division of Special
Collections and Archives, Margaret I. King Library, University of Kentucky,
covers the period, January 19, 1862—-April 4, 1864. The original diary was
written in eight small booklets made of scrap paper—mainly hospital supply
sheets—stitched together with thread. Entries selected for inclusion in this
volume represent, in the opinion of the editors, the most significant portions
of the total diary. Lengthy accounts of military activities and battles, which
the diarist generally copied verbatim from newspapers, have been omitted.
Mundane matters have been included when those activities either had some
bearing on the war or revealed attitudes of Lexington residents toward that
conflict.

The editors have made every effort to transcribe Miss Peter’s diary faith-
fully. Unlike many nineteenth-century diarists, she was quite literate. Her
spelling and grammar generally conform to modern practice and are intelli-
gible. As a result the editors largely have retained her wording, spelling, and
punctuation. To assist the reader, however, in some cases they have made
minor emendations to the text. Specifically, throughout the diary they have
capitalized first letters of sentences and occasionally added letters, words,
and punctuation in square brackets to correct spelling or to make passages
more intelligible. Especially long entries have been divided into paragraphs.
No other changes have been made; even Miss Peter’s tendency to omit punc-
tuation in titles and throughout sentences has been retained to preserve the

original flavor and intent of her diary.
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SuNDAY JAN. 19TH 1862

... We heard this morning of the arrest of a secessionist. He had been
taken up before the house of Mr. Viley of this city for carrying the
Southern mail but had made his escape. Last night an officer of Mundy’s
regiment' with a squad of not more than six men went to the house of
Mrs. Morgan? a secessionist and informed her that the man was in her
house and must be given up immediately. Mrs. Morgan came out with her
daughter & protested that she knew nothing about the man that he was
not in her house. The officer persisted, his orders were peremptory & if
she did not give him up he would have to search the premises, but said he
should be sorry to be driven to that measure.

A good many of the neighbors had assembled (mostly southern
sympathizers) and Mr. Cally Morgan also came out, and said he would
give his word of honor. The officer intimated that the last was not to be
relied on, but the neighbors said he ought to believe Mrs. Morgan as she
was a lady and her word might be relied on. The officer again protested he
could take no ones word, that his information was certain, dispatched a
man for reinforcement in order to search the house & stationed his men so
as to guard the premises as well as possible. Not having quite enough men
he called a negro who was standing by and placed him to watch one part
and told him to be sure and shout if he saw any one attempt to escape
from the house.

It was not long before the negro was heard shouting “Here him be
massa here him be.” The man had jumped out into the negro’s very arms
not having seen him perhaps and was secured, the black holding him tight
in his embrace until he was secured & taken out to camp. . . . Mrs. Morgan
said the man had come there for protection and she did not think it would
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be kind to betray him. This lady is the mother of the notorious rebel Capt
John Morgan. . ..

1. Colonel Marcellus Mundy recruited and organized the 23rd Kentucky Infantry

Regiment at Camp King, near Covington, in late 1861. See Thomas Speed, The

Union Regiments of Kentucky (Louisville: Courier-Journal Job Printing, 1877), 513-
17.

2. Mrs. Henrietta Morgan (1805-1891) resided at the corner of Second and Mill
Streets. The daughter of John Wesley Hunt, a wealthy Lexington merchant, she was
married to Calvin C. Morgan of Huntsville, Alabama, in 1823. Mrs. Morgan was the
mother of six sons and two daughters. All her sons and both sons-in-law (Generals
A.P. Hill and Basil W. Duke) served in the Confederate army. John Hunt Morgan
(the eldest son), Thomas H., and Hill were killed during the Civil War. Calvin C.,
Richard C., Charlton H., and Frank Key, along with Duke, were all wounded. Basil
Duke, History of Morgan’s Cavalry (Cincinnati: Miami Printing and Publishing, 1867),
18.The Louisville Courier-Journal, September 9, 1891, contains an obituary of Mrs.
Morgan.

TuESDAY JAN 21sT 1862

.. Another arrest was made today by Mundy’s men. Dr. Steele! and
Will Dudley Jr. were arrested at the house of the secessionist Dr. Desha.
Dr. Steele has been acting as surgeon to the rebels at Bowling Green,? and
was taken up as a spy. He said he only came to see his wife and child
whom he left here but who are now at Danville,? but he of course had a
better reason than that for making such a journey. The guard at the door
was standing with his musket pointing in the passage while the rest went
in to take the prisoners when he heard the window above him violently
thrown up. Thinking some one was going to fire on him he raised his
musket & looking up saw Mrs. Desha who poured forth a volley of abuse
in the most refined & chivalric terms . . . no resistance was offered & the
men were marched off & Dr. Steele sent to Camp Chase* Ohio for his
health. Col. Mundy is a sharp fellow and just the man that was wanting
here for he does not stand upon ceremony with traitors.

1. Major Theophilus Steele, M.D., of Woodford County, Kentucky, entered Con-
federate service as a surgeon in Colonel Roger Hanson’s 2nd Kentucky Regiment.
He later served in Gano’s Regiment of Morgan’s Cavalry. Although a doctor, Steele
apparently preferred inflicting wounds to healing them. See William E. Mickle, We//
Known Confederate Veterans and Their War Records (New Orleans: W.E. Mickle, 1907),
74, and Duke, History of Morgan’s Cavalry, 228.

2. Bowling Green, in south central Kentucky, marked the center of the Confederate
defenses that stretched the length of the Kentucky-Tennessee border in the winter
and spring of 1861-1862. See Thomas Lawrence Connelly, Army of the Heartland:
The Army of Tennessee, 1861—1862 (Baton Rouge: Louisiana State Univ. Press, 1967),
65-77.
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3. Danville, the Boyle County seat, is southwest of Lexington. See John E. Kleber,
ed., The Kentucky Encyclopedia (Lexington: Univ. Press of Kentucky, 1992), 252.

4. First used as a training camp, this place (located west of Columbus, Ohio) was
later more important as a Federal prison camp. In 1863 about 8,000 Confederate
prisoners were confined there. See Mark Boatner, The Civi/ War Dictionary (New
York: David McKay Company, 1969), 117.

WEDNESDAY JAN 22ND 1862

... Col. Mundys cavalry leaves here today for London.! There are five
companies, & in leaving the city they passed through Main Street. As each
company passed the Wheeler & Wilson? machine shop where the ladies of
the Aid Society were sitting sewing they hurrad for them. One old fellow
was very drunk & shouted & pulled out his pistol flourishing it about in a
dangerous manner. The man next to him got the weapon from him but he
still continued to behave in an uproarious manner. The commanding
officer Col. Mundy rode up to him on hearing the noise he made, took
him by the collar & belabored him well. They are a rough looking set, &
ride very mean horses but I suppose they will fight well enough. Lieut.
Green Clay one of Shoepff’s® Aide de camps passed through here this
evening on his way to Gen. Buell* & brought with him a company flag
taken from Zollicoffers Army. The secessionists will not believe a word of
the late battle, but put it off by saying that Zollicoffer has whipped

Thomas.’

1. London, the seat of Laurel County, is south of Lexington. See Kleber, ed., T%e
Kentucky Encyclopedia, 570.

2.The Wheeler & Wilson sewing machine shop was located at Number 5, Higgins’
Block. See Williams’ Lexington City Directory for 1864—1865 (Lexington: Williams
and Company, 1864), 91 (hereafter cited Williams® Lexington City Directory).

3. Albin Francisco Schoepf, a Polish born refugee of the Hungarian Revolution, re-
ceived a commission as Brigadier General in the United States Army in September
1861. His brigade was engaged at the battle of Mill Springs, Kentucky. After Perryville,
Schoepf commanded the prisoner of war camp, Fort Delaware. See Ezra Warner,
Generals in Blue (Baton Rouge: Louisiana State Univ. Press, 1964), 424-25.

4. General Don Carlos Buell (1818-1898) was a native of Ohio, an 1841 graduate of
‘West Point, and a Mexican War hero. In November 1861, he assumed command of the
Department of the Ohio; in January 1862, he advanced upon Nashville, Tennessee.
See Patricia L. Faust, ed., Historical Times Illustrated Encyclopedia of the Civil War
(New York: Harper Perennial, 1991), 88.

5.Tennessean Felix Zollicoffer commanded Confederates at the battle of Mill Springs,
January 19, 1862. In the clash with General George H. Thomas’s Federal troops,
Zollicoffer mistakenly rode into the Federal line and was fatally shot by Colonel
Speed Fry of the 4th Kentucky Infantry (U.S.). The defeat marked the collapse of a
Confederate presence in eastern Kentucky. See Connelly, Army of the Heartland, 86—
99, and Faust, ed., Historical Times Illustrated Encyclopedia of the Civil War, 495.
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THURSDAY JAN 23RD 1862

Our victory is more complete than was thought. Thomas is still in
pursuit. The rebels had very fine entrenchments with huts & every thing
suitable for winter quarters but were so confused they did not think of
falling back to them. Zollicoffer evidently supposed that Thomas had
fewer men than was the case and as the river was flooded by the late rains
so as to cut off his retreat thought he would fall an easy prey. . ..
Zollicoffer met his death in this manner, he rode up to Col. S.S. Fry' of
the 4th Kentucky? and said “you had better not shoot your own men”
(trying to play the old secesh dodge of making our men believe they were
friends) Col Fry replied he was not doing so, Fry’s horse was shot under
him, he fired mortally wounding Zollicoffer who now lies in a tent under a
flag of truce to see if the rebels will claim his body. But I don’t think they
will, it is more likely they will put another in his place & call him
Zollicoffer to prevent the secesh from knowing the truth. . ..

We heard this morning that Mr. Cally Morgan was taken up in
Louisville. He left Lex in a hurry after that man was arrested at his
mother’s & went to Louisville very likely in order to carry the southern
mail, in place of the man who was taken up.

1. Speed Smith Fry (1817-1892) was born in Boyle County, Kentucky, and attended
Centre College and Wabash College. Fry commanded a division of General William
S. Rosecrans’ army at the battle of Murfreesboro in January 1863. For much of the
remainder of the war he was in charge of training black recruits at Camp Nelson,
Kentucky. See Victor B. Howard, Black Liberation in Kentucky: Emancipation and
Freedom, 1862-1884 (Lexington: Univ. Press of Kentucky, 1983), 113, 115.

2. President Abraham Lincoln authorized the enlistment of three regiments for the
Union cause while Kentucky attempted to remain neutral. William Nelson, a Ken-
tucky native and former captain in the United States Navy, raised the three regiments,
including the 4th Kentucky. See Speed, The Union Regiments of Kentucky, 302.

FRrIDAY JAN 24TH 1862

... the secesh persist in saying there is no battle & Mr. Frank Waters!
declares that he has been down to the battlefield & that no battle has been
fought & Zollicoffer is not dead.

1. An attorney, Frank Waters was a Lexington native and an 1837 graduate of
Transylvania University. See William H. Perrin, History of Fayette County, Kentucky
(Chicago: O.L. Baskin, 1882), 745.

SATURDAY JAN 25TH 1862

Zollicoffers body has been embalmed and is to be taken to Nashville
by way of Louisville of course it will pass through here. The secesh always
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boasted that Zollicoffer would come here and he will, but not by any
means in the way they expected.

SUNDAY JAN 26 1862

Two of the soldiers from De Courcy’s hospital spent the day here, &
in the evening Mrs. Breshears (wife of the surgeon of the 16th Ohio who
is now at Somerset with his regiment) came to get Lettie' to go to some of
the hospitals with her. She is a strapping woman & has a commission as
nurse in the regiment and has followed it during the time they were in
Virginia. When the Col left here he gave her full power over the men he
left sick and authority to punish those who were unruly. Lately she had a
man put in jail for getting drunk.

1. Letitia, oldest of the Peter children, was born on July 21, 1836. The diarist’s other
brothers and sisters and their years of birth were: William (1838), Benjamin (1840),
Johanna (1845), Robert (1847), Sarah (1849), Arthur (1852), Hugh (1854), Alfred
(1857), and Alice (1859). See Evans Papers.

FRIDAY JANUARY 31ST 1862

Tonight the ladies and gentlemen of this city gave an amateur concert,
the third one they have given this winter for the benefit of the Soldiers
Aid Society.! Mr. Chas. Shultze? is manager, and the performance was
assisted by Mundy’s band. Several patriotic songs were sung by the
company & Lieut. Jacob Kessler® of the 23rd Ky regiment (Col Mundy)
sang. He has a fine tenor voice & sings very well. It reminds one of the
days when the British army was quartered at New York & Philadelphia
when the soldiers had amateur concerts & theatres. There will be another
concert in about a week & we are going to have some of Cobans* men to
sing. The Col Mark Mundy & his wife were present & a great many
soldiers. The Col is handsome but looks rather pale & careworn.

1. Organized by Union sympathizers in October 1861, this society provided assis-
tance for sick and wounded Federal soldiers. See Perrin, History of Fayette County,
Kentucky, 454.

2. A native of Germany, Schultze came to Lexington in 1860. After giving private
music lessons for two years, he became an instructor of music at the Sayre Female
Academy and later taught at the Baptist Female Seminary and the Kentucky Agri-
cultural and Mechanical College. See Perrin, History of Fayette County, Kentucky, 713~
14.

3. Miss Peter may be referring to Jacob Keesler of the 23rd Kentucky band. See
Speed, The Union Regiments of Kentucky, 517.

4. Probably Colonel John Coburn, who commanded the 33rd Indiana Infantry sta-
tioned in Lexington at this time. See Boatner, The Civil/ War Dictionary, 161.

o 7o



The Diary of Frances Peter

[THURSDAY] FEBRUARY 6TH 1862

Report says that a skirmish took place between Capt John Morgan &
our troops between Lebanon & Green River the other day & Morgan &
40 of his men taken prisoners.! About 25 army wagons leave here daily.
Zollicoffers body did not pass through here but was sent to Nashville from
Munfordville.

1. Captain John Hunt Morgan, accompanied by nine of his troopers, raided and
scouted around Greensburg and Lebanon, Kentucky, between January 28 and Feb-
ruary 1,1862. Morgan captured Federal soldiers and horses. Portions of the 1st Ohio
Cavalry pursued, but never made contact with the raider. See U.S. Congress, The War
of the Rebellion: A Compilation of the Official Records of the Union and Confederate Armies
(Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office, 1880-1901), ser. 1, vol. 7, 116~
118 (hereafter cited OR).

[SATURDAY] FEBRUARY 8TH 1862

... Gen Schoeff has been here for a day or two. The report of the
capture of Morgan is unfounded.

[TuespAY] FEBRUARY 18TH [1862]

... A salute of 40 guns was fired this evening on the receipt of the
additional news that Nashville is taken.!

1. The celebration was probably held to commemorate the capture of the Confeder-
ates’ Fort Donelson on Feburary 16, 1862, leaving the road to Nashville open. Pres-
sure by Federal armies under Ulysses S. Grant and Buell caused Confederate General
Albert Sidney Johnston to evacuate the politically and industrially important city on
February 23. See James M. McPherson, Battle Cry of Freedom: The Civil War Era
(New York: Oxford Univ. Press, 1988), 401-3.

WENSDAY FEBUARY 19TH 1862

Last evening a short time after the salute was fired a large crowd was
seen to assemble at Mrs Morgan’s . . . & several soldiers were seen to
search the house. We learnt to day that the occasion was this. While the
guns were firing Frank Key or as he is called Key Morgan' with two or
three other boys went to the janitor of the college [Transylvania] and got
the key to the door leading on the roof on pretext that a ball had been
thrown up there, & hoisted a secession flag on the college. The janitor saw
it and cut it down & by order of the teacher Mr. Patterson® putitin a
cellar till it could be delivered to the authorities, but a Mrs John Dudley?
who lives near the college told Morgan who got the flag & took it home &
having secreted it made the best of his way off. Some soldiers however had
seen the flag on the college and came to inquire the cause of its being
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there, which having learnt they searched Mrs Morgans house found the
flag which they tore up and divided among themselves. They got the
names of the boys concerned & will probably arrest them. Mr. Patterson
this morning suspended them until a faculty meeting could be held when
they (the boys) will probably be expelled.

1. The youngest Morgan son, Frank Key, enlisted in the Confederate army on Sep-

tember 10, 1862, at the age of fifteen. See Report of the Adjutant General of the State of
Kentucky Confederate Kentucky Volunteers, 2 vols. (Frankfort: The State Journal Com-

pany, [1951]), 1:582.

2. James Kennedy Patterson (1833-1922) was born in Glasgow, Scotland, but immi-

grated to America at the age of ten. In 1861 he came to Lexington as principal of
Transylvania High School and, when it was merged into Kentucky University in

1865, became professor of Latin and literature. Patterson was named president of
the Kentucky Agricultural and Mechanical College in 1869, was re-elected to that

position when the school became an independent state institution in 1880, and served

until his retirement in 1910. See Perrin, History of Fayette County, Kentucky, 68485,

and James F. Hopkins, The University of Kentucky: Origins and Early Years (Lexing-

ton: Univ. of Kentucky Press, 1951), 123, 268.

3. Wife of a prominent grocer in Lexington. See George W. Ranck, History of Lex-

ington, Kentucky: Its Early Annals and Recent Progress (Cincinnati: Robert Clarke and

Co., 1872), 397.

Fripay FEB. 21sT 1862

Last night the bells were tolled for the death of Dr. Ethelbert L.
Dudley,! Col of the 21st reg. K.V. who died at Columbia, Adair Co. of
typhoid fever.

1. A Lexington native, Dr. Ethelbert Dudley was educated at Harvard and
Transylvania University before becoming a member of Transylvania’s medical school
faculty. He died of typhoid fever, February 20, 1862, while commanding his regi-
ment. See Perrin, History of Fayette County, Kentucky, 450-51.

SATURDAY FEB. 22ND [1862]

Washington’s birthday has dawned dark & cloudy as if the elements
sympathized with the loss that Dr. Dudley’s death will be to Lexington.
His body is expected here Monday. Coburn’s regiment has received
marching orders.

Tuespay FeB. 25TH [1862]

Col. E. Dudley’s body arrived here Sunday and was attended from the
cars to the Oddfellows Hall' by the Mayor, Councilmen and crowd of
citizens. The funeral oration was pronounced by Mr. Brank? today at the
Oddfellows Hall where the body lay in state. The 33rd Indiana,® Col
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Coburn, the Lex Blues, Cap Wilgris,* Odd fellows & masons, with some
of the old Infantry Chasseurs,’ formed part of the procession with some of
Dr. Dudleys men who came with him & a great many carriages. It was the
largest funeral ever seen here (except Henry Clay’s)

1. The Oddfellows Hall was located on the southeast corner of Broadway and Main.
See Williams’ Lexington City Directory, 19.

2. Reverend Robert G. Brank, a Kentucky native and graduate of Centre College,
was pastor of the Second Presbyterian Church. Following the war, Brank represented
the Southern Assembly faction in a church dispute and then resigned in 1869. See
Ranck, History of Lexington, Kentucky, 284.

3. The 33rd Indiana Infantry was raised in Indianapolis in September 1861, and
served at the battles of Wild Cat and Mill Springs. The regiment was in Lexington
as part of the 1st Brigade, 1st Division, Army of Ohio. See Frederick H. Dyer, 4
Compendium of the War of the Rebellion, Compiled and Arranged from Official Records of
the Federal and Confederate Armies, Reports of the Adjutant Generals of the Several States
(Des Moines, Iowa: Dyer Publishing Company, 1908), 3:1132.

4. John B. Wilgus, captain of the Lexington Blues and prominent grocer and mer-
chant, reportedly freed his slaves two months after Fort Sumter as an expression of
support for the Union cause. See Perrin, History of Fayette County, Kentucky, 734-36.
5. Here Miss Peter confuses the names of two organizations. The Old Infantry was a
Lexington militia company that dated to the eighteenth century, and the Lexington
Chasseurs, a militia company raised in Lexington in May 1860, had a reputation for
ornate uniforms and proficiency in drill. At the outbreak of war the company split
and its members fought for both the Union and the Confederacy. Both companies
were noted for stylish dress, drill, and for the social standing of their members. See
Perrin, History of Fayette County, Kentucky, 442—44, 448-49, and Ranck, History of
Lexington, Kentucky, 383-385.

WENsDAY FEB 26TH [1862]

We have certain intelligence that Nashville is ours. The rebels left
with out resistance but burnt the state library. The Louisville Journal of
today was suppressed & there is some talk of suppressing all the papers but
I don’t think they will do it. Col. S.S. Fry, the Mill Spring hero was in
town today. He visited the sewing society & talked with the ladies. He said
he intended to make it his business to come back here when the war was
over & let the ladies ask him as many questions as they pleased. The report
that Coburn’s regiment had received marching orders is unfounded. The
wound Col. Fry gave Zollicoffer was not it seems the one that killed him
for on examination [it was found] that a minie ball had passed through the
heart, whereas Fry’s ball went through the head, consequently the real
honor belongs to a private soldier.

THURSDAY MARCH 20 [1862]
... The secesh are getting pretty high here. The other day when some
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rebel prisoners passed through here, a great crowd of them went down to
the cars & hurrad for Jeff Davis and made a great fuss over the scamps. It
is said they expected them for some days & had even got a dinner ready
for them. . . . The secesh ladies have also had a sewing society and have
been supplying the rebel prisoners Gen Halleck! sent an order here that
hurraing for Jeff. was not to be allowed.

1. Henry Wager Halleck (1815-1872), a native of New York, was named commander
of Union armies in the West in March 1862. Failing to defeat the Confederates
decisively at Corinth, Mississippi, in April 1862, Halleck was placed in an adminis-
trative position as general-in-chief of all Union armies. In March 1864, when Grant
assumed chief command, Halleck was demoted to chief of staff. See T. Harry Will-
iams, Lincoln and His Generals (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1952), 300-301, and
Stephen E. Ambrose, Halleck: Lincoln’s Chief of Staff (Baton Rouge: Louisiana State
Univ. Press, 1962).

FRrRIDAY MARCH 21sT [1862]
Today the much talked of funeral of the rebel Lieut Edward Keen!

was to take place. The secesh have said they were going to make a great
display and even threatened to have military (although where they would
get the last article is more than I can say unless they thought the rebels
would take Cincinnati as they have been lately excusing themselves for
their defeats by saying that their retreating is only a part of their strategy
to get into the northern states) but the young mans family said it should be
a private funeral. Before the funeral was ready to start about 300 or 400
men under command of Major Manguer? Manquer? were sent in by Col.
Coburn. The procession came down Broadway & by the Medical Hall was
met by a squad of soldiers who allowed the hearse & 20 carriages to pass
& cut off the remainder (there were about 33). Such a scattering as there
was then! The carriages & the followers on foot who had been cut off
hastened away in all directions and endeavored to reach the cemetary by
other routes but every where they were met by armed soldiers who guarded
every approach till the major and three companies of men had conducted
the remainder of the funeral to the cemetery. It is said that none of the
carriages were permitted to enter the cemetary but I cannot be sure. The
major said there was only one thing he regretted not to have done & that
was to have cut off Mrs. Morgan’s carriage for all the way to the cemetery
Mrs. Basil Duke? hissed at him or his men. It seems the soldiers thought
they would have a secesh flag for Mr. J. Elliot® had been heard to say they
would have one at the cemetary. They did not however. It is against the
law now for secesh to have more than 20 carriages at funerals. A good
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many union people friends of the family were at the funeral. I don’t think
they ought to have let them bring Ed Keen here anyhow. He had one
funeral & been buried with military honors down in “Dixie” & I think
they might have let him stay there instead of putting him near Henry Clay
& other good union men. The incident I have related goes generally by the
euphorious name of “Skeedadle”. . ..

1. A former member of the Lexington Chasseurs, Edward Keen was mortally wounded
at Ft. Donelson while serving with the 2nd Kentucky Cavalry (C.S.). See Perrin,
History of Fayette County, Kentucky, 450.

2. Henrietta, John Hunt Morgan’s sister, was the wife of Basil Duke, a trusted Mor-
gan subordinate. See Duke, History of Morgan’s Cavalry, 579.

3. This may be J.M. Elliot, a Lexington dry goods merchant who had a store on the
south side of Main Street opposite the courthouse. See Williams’ Lexington City Di-
rectory, 47, and Eighth Census of the United States for Fayette County, 1860, Sched-
ule 1, 518.

SATURDAY MAR 22 [1862]

A notorious fellow named Columbus Gilreath one of Morgan’s'
cavalry was taken up here today.

1. Born in Huntsville, Alabama, in 1825, John Hunt Morgan was educated at
Transylvania University. After serving in the Mexican War, Morgan operated the
general merchandising business of his grandfather, John Wesley Hunt, in Lexington.
In 1857 he organized the Lexington Rifles, most of whom joined the forces of Gen-
eral Simon B. Buckner at the outbreak of the war. Morgan’s series of raids into Ten-
nessee, Kentucky, Indiana, and Ohio made him a legendary figure in the
commonwealth and the Confederacy. Captured in Ohio in 1863, Morgan escaped
and later commanded the Department of Southwestern Virginia. He was killed by
Union cavalry in September 1864, at Greenville, Tennessee. See James A. Ramage,
Rebel Raider: The Life of General John Hunt Morgan (Lexington: Univ. Press of Ken-
tucky, 1986).

MonNDAY MAR. 24 [1862]

Old Mr John Gilbert was taken up in Scott county so we heard today
for carring the southern mail A good many letters were found on him. The
Gilberts have always borne the name of underhand people Report accused
them of hiring negroes to work all night, & trading with the negros for
stolen things Some even went so far as to say that Mr Gilbert used to stop
the wagons of hemp that passed his house and forcing the drivers to give
him some. The credit of his arrest is said to belong to Adjutant Durham of
the 33rd Indiana. . ..
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Brigadier General John Hunt Morgan and his second wife, Mattie Ready, shortly
after their marriage in December 1862. (Audio-Visual Archives, Special Col-
lections and Archives, University of Kentucky Libraries)
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MoNDAY MAR 31sT [1862]

Today a flag was presented to the 33rd Indiana. The presentation took
place in the College lawn. Mr. Carmichael Wickliffe addressed the soldiers
from the College steps & was replied to by Col. Coburn. The whole
regiment was not present as 2 or 3 companies were left behind on guard.
They passed by our house both going & coming down & wore the
uniforms they had worn at Wild Cat.! The flag was of dark blue silk with
gold fringe & eagle on it with the words “Wild Cat” in a cloud in refer-
ence to the battle of Wild Cat in which the regiment took so large a part.
When the people were coming down we saw Mr. John Dudley coming
down with a stranger. Pa said “that is one of the rebel officers who are on
parole here.” He was dressed in a suit of what is called “rebel gray” with no
shoulder straps on his coat or stripes of any kind on his breeches or badge
on his cap. But the last was embroidered somewhat like a smoking cap
with narrow gold braid in a fancy pattern. As he passed ma who had been
talking to Pa remarked I shall always say “down with secession.” How he
did stare!

1.In a prelude to the battle of Mill Springs, General Albin Schoepf’s Federal troops
clashed with General Felix Zollicoffer’s Confederates at Camp Wild Cat in south-
east Kentucky. See Kleber, ed., The Kentucky Encyclopedia, 952.

THURSDAY APRIL 10TH [1862]

... A terrible battle has been fought at Pittsburg Tenn. We do not
know as yet the loss on both sides; Our troops had the worst the first day
& Gen. Prentiss & a number of men prisoners. But we beat in the end.
The rebel Gen. A. Sidney Johnston killed. Dr’s James & Dudley Bush
went down this evening to help attend the wounded.

... The Amateur Society will give another concert shortly for the
purpose of raising funds to assist the hospitals. A meeting of citizens will
be held tomorrow for the same purpose.

FripAY ApPRIL 11TH [1862]
... There are 300 sick at hospital here.

MoNDAY APRIL 14TH [1862]
... 300 more soldiers expected at the hospital from Cumberland Ford.
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WENSDAY APRIL 16TH [1862]

They have taken the house near the college that was used for a
hospital by De Courcy for a hospital for some of the soldiers here & Mr.
John Dudley who occupied one half of the place received orders to move
& left this morning, a good riddance. The 42 Ohio Col Shelton & the
18th Ky.! Col Warner are here at the fairground.? It was discovered the
other day that one of Lindsay’s® [22nd Ky.] men who was left at the
hospital had the smallpox & there has been no end to the trouble that was
had getting a place to put him.

1. The 42nd Ohio served in western (West) Virginia and eastern Kentucky. The
18th Kentucky, commanded by Colonel William A. Warner and headquartered at
Lexington, guarded the Lexington and Covington Railroad. See Dyer, A4 Compen-
dium of the War of the Rebellion, 3:1516; Speed, The Union Regiments of Kentucky, 463;
and Thomas Speed, The Union Cause in Kentucky, 1860-1865 (New York: G.P.
Putnam’s Sons, 1907), 463-64.

2. The Lexington Fairground was first occupied as a campground for soldiers in
September 1861, and remained a favorite spot for troops garrisoned in Lexington.
See Perrin, History of Fayette County, Kentucky, 453-55.

3. Miss Peter referred to Daniel W. Lindsay, colonel of the 22nd Kentucky Infantry
(U.S.). See Speed, The Union Cause, 146.

FRrIDAY APRIL 18TH [1862]

Doctor Bush! has returned from Pittsburg Landing? bringing a great
many memorials of the battle in the shape of shells, Minnie balls, etc. Tom
Monroe?® the late editor of the Kentucky Statesman* is undoubtedly dead
for Tom Bush® who is on Gen Buell’s staff buried him. Jno. Hogan® the
other editor of the [Lex.] Observer & Reporter’ is also said to be dead.

1. Doctor James Bush, a Kentucky native, was professor of Surgery and Anatomy at
Transylvania University. See Perrin, History of Fayette County, Kentucky, 305.

2. The battle of Shiloh, or Pittsburg Landing, took place April 6~7, 1862, in south-
west Tennessee. See Faust, ed., Historical Times Encyclopedia of the Civil War, 684,
and Larry J. Daniel, Shiloh: The Battle That Changed the Civil War (New York: Simon
and Schuster, 1997).

3. Thomas B. Monroe Jr., former editor of the Kentucky Statesman, served as Gover-
nor Beriah Magoffin’s secretary of state before his death at Shiloh while serving as
major of the 4th Kentucky Infantry. See Perrin, History of Fayette County, Kentucky,
372.

4. The Kentucky Statesman, a Democratic, pro-Confederate newspaper, suspended
publication in September 1861. It published briefly in September and October 1862
during the Confederate occupation of Lexington. See Perrin, History of Fayette County,
Kentucky,372.

5. Corporal Thomas J. Bush, a former member of the Lexington Chasseurs, was an
aide-de-camp to General Buell. See Perrin, History of Fayette County, Kentucky, 449.
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6.John T. Hogan edited the Lexington Observer and Reporter from 1855 to 1859. See
Ranck, History of Lexington, 237.

7.The Lexington Observer and Reporter, edited and published semi-weekly by D.C.
Wickliffe, was one of the most influential newspapers in the state.

MoNDAY APRIL 28TH [1862]

One of Warner’s men named Watson was shot the other night while
passing from Broadway to camp, supposed by a secesh. The man was
drunk at the time. He is from Grant Co., Ky. & leaves a wife & six
children. Pa has got a place as assistant surgeon at one of the hospitals.

THURSDAY MAY 15T [1862]

Mr. Parker Craig! was arrested today for harboring a southern
emissary named Clarke, who had letters & papers concealed about him.

1. Parker Craig ran a livery stable on the north side of Short Street between Mul-
berry and Upper. See Williams’ Lexington Directory, City Guide, and Business Mirror,
1859-1860 (Lexington: Hitchcock and Searles, 1859), 49 (hereafter cited Williams’
Lexington City Guide).

SUNDAY MAy 4 [1862]

About 150 sick soldiers have been sent here lately from Cumberland
Ford. A battle is expected there and the hospitals in the neighborhood are
sending back such of the sick as can be moved to make room for the
wounded. Some of the young secesh here attempted to join the rebel
forces. Several arrests have been made among those concerned. . . .

THURSDAY MAY 8TH [1862]

Yesterday the ladies gave the soldiers at the Short Street hospital a
dinner. Capt Lanphiger’s' Michigan battery is here. They have some pretty
large guns with them. Two of them looked like Parrotts.2 They are going
to Cumberland Ford.

1. Miss Peter probably meant Captain Charles H. Lanphere’s Battery G, 1st Michi-
gan Light Artillery, which served in Kentucky during this time. See John Robertson,
comp., Michigan in the War (Lansing: W.S. George & Company, 1882), 532-34.

2. Named for its inventor, Robert Parker Parrott, this type of cannon was recogniz-
able by the iron reinforcing band around the gun’s breech. See Faust, ed., Historical
Times Ilustrated Encyclopedia of the Civil War, 558.

Fripay MAY 9TH [1862]

Tonight the Amateur Musical Association gave their 5th concert for
the benefit of the Aid Society. Some very pretty tableaux were exhibited in
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addition to the usual performance & everything went off very well until
the performance was over, when several members of the battery appeared
upon the stage headed by an officer from one of the regiments here, who
introduced them by name to the audience & announced that they had
been requested to sing their new Dixie. He then stepped aside & the men
commenced. They had hardly finished the first verse when Mr. George
Didlake! came out & stopped them. They were evidently offended by what
he said for the officer said that Capt. Lanphiger had at the request of
several citizens allowed these men to stay in town for the express purpose
of singing at this concert, but that they did not wish to intrude. The house
was immediately in an uproar. Cries of Battery! battery! sing! go on! were
heard from every side. Many got upon the seats & waved their hats &
hankerchiefs & the crowd barred every avenue of escape. The excitement
was extreme. At last the men were compelled to sing. The audience were
delighted & showed their appreciation of the Dixie by uproarious applause
& furious waving of scarfs & hankerchiefs. Bouquets were also thrown to
them & every one seemed to think they could not do enough to make up
for the insult that had been put upon them. It was indeed scandalous to
drive strangers off the stage that way after they had been asked to sing &
when every one wished to hear them except the offending parties.

1. George Didlake, a Lexington attorney, boarded at the Broadway Hotel. See Will-
iams’ Lexington City Guide, 53.

SATURDAY MAY 10TH [1862]

It seems that Mrs. Monmollin' was the one that made George
Didlake tell the soldiers to stop singing, because forsooth she did not wish
to offend some few secesh who had been induced to come, though she is
herself a union lady. Today she & Mr. Didlake were forced to apologize &
when they found how indignant everyone was at their behavior they rode
about town together nearly the whole day trying to make it up & were in
the greatest anxiety lest the battery should refuse to come tonight to the
concert. They came however & were greeted with shouts of applause &
received a quantity of bouquets. . . .

1. Mrs. Montmollin was an officer in the Soldiers Aid Society. See Perrin, History of
Fayette County, Kentucky, 455.

TuespDAY MAY 13TH [1862]
... The college has been taken for a hospital & Pa has moved his men
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from the Short street hospital up there. Mr. Patterson has been allowed the
use of the Medical Hall' for his school. . ..

1.This building, located on the northwest corner of Second and Broadway, once
housed the medical department of Transylvania University, but had been abandoned
for several years. In late 1861, when Union authorities seized Morrison College and
dormitories for use as military prisons and hospitals, the Medical Hall reopened to
house Transylvania’s literary and classical departments. In May 1863 it was taken by
Federal authorities for use as a general hospital, but was destroyed by fire on May 22,
1863. See J. Winston Coleman Jr., Lexington During the Civil War (Lexington:
Commerical Printing Company, 1938), 23, 39, 41.

JUNE 5TH 1862

... The ladies gave a strawberry party to Warners’ men today at their
camp.

JuNE 21sT [1862]

A body of soldiers left here today for Owen Co. to put down some
outbreak of the secesh.!

1. On June 20, 1862, between thirty and forty Confederate sympathizers attacked a
party of Kentucky Home Guard near Lusby’s Mill. Federal forces retaliated by ar-
resting some three to four hundered Owen County “secessionists.” See OR, ser. 1,
vol. 16, pt. 1, 726-28.

MonDpAY JUNE 23RD [1862]

Sent for more men to go to Sweet Owen. Tonight some 13 prisoners
arrived.

Tuespay Jury 1 [1862]

Orders received at the hospital here from Gen. Morgan for all the
men to come to Cumberland Gap.' About 120 volunteered from hospital
no. 2.2

1. General George Washington Morgan commanded Federal forces in the vicinity of
Cumberland Gap. Morgan was preparing the Gap for an expected assault by ten to
twelve thousand Confederates. See Warner, Generals in Blue, 334; and OR, ser. 1, vol.
16, pt. 1, 58-59.

2. Located in Morrison College, Transylvania University.

THURSDAY JuLy 3D [1862]

Pa received an official letter this evening giving him his dismissal from
the hospital from the 13th of this month. The hospitals here are to be
discontinued.
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(Above) An 1860 view of Transylvania University. Morrison Hall, the columned
building, was designed by Gideon Shryock, who rented the Stark house on the cor-
ner of Market and Mechanic Streets during the hall’s construction (1831-33). The
Stark house later became the longtime home of the Peter family. (Transylvania Uni-
versity Photographic Archives) (Below) Completed in 1840 with funds from the
Lexington City Council, this building served the medical department until its de-
mise ca. 1856. Transylvania High School was housed here in 1862 until it became a
Union hospital following the battle of Perryville. The structure burned in May 1863
(see diary entry for May 22, 1863). (J. Winston Coleman Photographic Collection,
Transylvania University Library)

TRANSYLVANIA UNIVERSITY —MEDICAL HALL
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TuespAY Jury 8 [1862]

... A man named Curley, one of Col. Metcalf’s Cavalry' was shot
today by G.B. Thomas, Freight agent of the Louisville & Lex. railroad.
The shooting took place at the Depot on Water st. The man was wounded
in four places. Thomas attempted to escape, but was arrested & put in jail.
They are moving the men from Hospital no. 1? to no. 2 there being so few
at present that one hospital is sufficient. . ..

1. Colonel Leonidas Metcalfe’s 7th Kentucky Cavalry (U.S.) contained two men,
William Curl, and Absalom Craily, each of whom might have been “Curley.” See
Speed, The Union Regiments of Kentucky,151,189.

2. Located in the Masonic Hall, on the northeast corner of Walnut and Short Streets.
The site is now occupied by the Central Christian Church.

THURSDAY JuLy 10TH [1862]

Three companies of the 3rd Ky. arrived today bringing some prisoners.
They are to serve as escort to a battery that will pass through here on the
way to the Gap.

SATURDAY JuLy 12TH [1862]!

John Morgan with a large body of cavalry said to be at Glasgow &
marching on Lex[ington] expected tonight. The whole town is in a stir in
consequence. Gen Boyle? sent a dispatch that men should be sent out to
meet Morgan. The Home Guards, Provost Guard & volunteers from the
hospital with a battery that arrived the other day went out on duty. A
company came to night from Cynthiana.® A dispatch was sent this evening
to Cincinatti for troops. For several days the atmosphere has presented a
very hazy, smoky appearance & at times a slight smell as of burning was
perceptible. We heard this evening that Lebanon had been burnt by
Morgan.

1. This and the following entries refer to Morgan’s First Kentucky Raid, July 4-28,
1862, in which Morgan’s cavalry rode north from Tennessee into Kentucky and around
Lexington. See Ramage, Rebel Raider, 91-106.

2. A Whig slaveholder and resolute Unionist from Boyle County, Kentucky, Jeremiah
Tilford Boyle (1818-1871) had studied law at Transylvania. His controversial ad-
ministration as commander of the District of Kentucky was ineffectual against count-
less Confederate and guerrilla raids. See Kleber, ed., The Kentucky Encyclopedia, 109.
3. Cynthiana is the county seat of Harrison County, north of Fayette County, and
bordered in the south by Scott and Bourbon Counties.

Sunpay [Jury] 131H [1862]

Two of Morgan’s scouts taken up this morning. Morgan is said to be
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at Danville & has issued a proclamation calling on the secesh to rise.!
Martial law has been declared here, soldiers have been arriving all morn-
ing. Gen. Boyle is said to be in Morgan’s rear.

1. A copy of this proclamation can be found in James Street Jr., The Struggle for
Tennessee (Alexandria: Time-Life, 1985), 26.

MonpaAy Jury 14TH [1862]

The excitement increases. Gen Ward! has command here & martial
law is stricter than ever. Mrs Morgan and Mrs Curd? were sent out of
town as the people threatened to level their houses with the ground, &
Major Bracht® said he could protect them no longer. A regiment arrived
this morning from Camp Chase. Stayed here about an hour & hearing
Morgan was within 12 miles of Frankfort left for that place. The police
force from Cincinnatti is here.*

1. William Thomas Ward (1808-1878) was born in Virginia, but lived most of his
life in Kentucky. He served in the state legislature and represented Kentucky in the
U.S. Congress, 1851 to 1853. General Ward was the Union commander at Lexing-
ton at the time of Morgan’s first raid into the state in July 1862. See Duke, History of
Morgan’s Cavalry, 193.

2. Mrs. Richard A. (Eleanor) Curd was a sister of Mrs. Henrietta Morgan. See James
A. Ramage, John Wesley Hunt (Lexington: Univ. Press of Kentucky, 1974), 94. Also
see Mrs. James B. Clay to James B. Clay, July 9, 1863, Hunt-Morgan Papers, Divi-
sion of Special Collections and Archives, University of Kentucky Library.

3. Major F.G. Bracht was provost marshal of Lexington in July 1862. An officer in
the 18th Kentucky Infantry (U.S.), he led a remnant of that regiment in retreat to
Louisville in September 1862, after the battle of Richmond, Kentucky. See Speed,
The Union Cause in Kentucky, 464, and Richard H. Collins, History of Kentucky (1882;
reprint, Frankfort: Kentucky Historical Society, 1966), 1:104.

4. All able-bodied men were ordered to report to the courthouse to be armed. Sa-
loons were closed and rebel sympathizers were ordered not to leave their homes. C.T.
Worley, mayor of Lexington in 1862, issued a proclamation urging loyal citizens to
join a Home Guard company and drill daily at 4 .M. On July 13, President Lincoln
wired General Henry W. Halleck, the Union commander: “They are having a stam-
pede in Kentucky. Please look to it.” About one hundred members of the Cincinnati
police force were dispatched to Lexington. See Perrin, History of Fayette County, Ken-
tucky, 456; Ranck, History of Lexington, 332; and Roy P. Basler, ed., The Collected
Works of Abrabam Lincoln (New Brunswick, N.J.: Rutgers Univ. Press, 1953), 5:322.

TuespAY JuLy 15 [1862]

The houses of the secesh are being pressed into the service of our
soldiers. The secesh have had to stay at home for the last two days but
today thinking martial law was over (Major Brachts proclamation had only
declared it for 48 hours) they ventured out & about 50 were imprisoned in
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the court house yard, under another proclamation which declared that all
persons that were not union, did not belong to any volunteer company or
were not willing to enlist in one were to be arrested. . . .

A man was taken up last night for carrying the secesh mail. He
inquired for Mrs. Morgan & thus betrayed himself. His name is Foley, the
same who was taken at Mrs. Morgans before. The secesh on the borders of
Scott & Fayette have risen, taken Pa’s mill & done other damage. One of
our men was killed by some of our pickets. He rode up to the lines at a
gallop & refused to halt when told to do so & our soldiers thinking it
might be one of Morgan’s men (who are said to wear the Federal uniforms
very often) shot him. The last news from Morgan is that he is at
Georgetown. The wires to Covington are cut & the Cincinnati train was
ordered back this evening as the secesh had put things in readiness to blow
up the track. The Louisville railroad was also torn up at one place.

WENSDAY JuLy 16TH [1862]

Morgan is said to be only 3 or 4 miles off on the Georgetown road,
we expect a fight. Mr. Wm. Warfield' came in from Dr. R. Breckinridge’s
to tell that the rebels intend to make a feint at one point while they
attacked at another. A regiment came today (I don’t know which one
unless De Courcy’s, his was expected). Took up a spy in the dress of a
federal officer. About dinnertime a man was sent to the hospital who had
been wounded by some of Morgan’s men.

1. Thirty-five-year-old William Warfield. See Eighth Census of the United States
for Fayette County, 1860, Schedule 1, 419.

THURsDAY JuLy 17 [1862]

... Had a skirmish with rebels on Newtown pike threw a shell among
them & took two or three prisoners. Major Bracht has issued an order that
all houses shall be closed & lights extinguished at 9 p.M. while martial law
lasts. Everybody very much dissatisfied with Gen. Ward, say he is drunken
& unable to attend to his affairs half the time.

FripAY JurLy 18TH [1862]

The 9th Pennsylvania Cavalry & Gen G. Clay Smith arrived this
morning from Henderson.! Marched all the way from Frankfort this
morning. Gen Smith it is said will take command here. Morgan sent a
summons the other day for Lex. to surrender.
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1. General Green Clay Smith (1826-1895) organized an impromptu brigade for the
defense of Lexington that included a portion of the 9th Pennsylvania Cavalry, two
companies of the 18th Kentucky Infantry, and one hundred Cincinnati police. See
John W. Rowell, Yankee Cavalrymen: Through the Civil War with the Ninth Pennsyl-
vania Cavalry (Knoxville: Univ. of Tennessee Press, 1971), 62-72.

SATURDAY JuLy 19TH [1862]

The rebels have taken Cynthiana. The 9th Penn. Cavalry left last
night about 9%. It is thought they are going to Paris. Warner’s regiment
camped this morning on Winchester road & left this evening for that city.
Had a fight at Paris. Rebels skedaddled as usual. Took four of Morgan’s
Texan rangers at Georgetown. Brought them to the hospital as they said
they were just recovering from measles. But they were so unruly that the
doctors had them marched off to jail to await further orders. Mean, dirty
looking fellows they were. . . .

SunDAY Jury 20TH [1862]

Captain Louis Postlethwaites’ company of citizen guards encamped in
the College lot! opposite our house. A part of the 54th Indiana arrived
this evening.? In the fight at Paris 17 rebels wounded & good many killed.
On our side the only man hurt was one who had his finger cut off by the
wheel of the cannon on which he was riding getting loose & rubbing
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At the north end of Little College Lot is Transylvania University’s main building.
Designed by Matthew Kennedy, it burned in 1829.(Courtesy of Clay Lancaster)
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against the railing by which he was holding. An Ambulance with two of
Warners’ men was fired into by some secesh, but fortunately missed them,
a few of the buckshot lodging in the horse. Brought in 23 prisoners
tonight.

1.The Little College Lot, now known as Gratz Park, in the rear of the old Lexington
Public Library, was the first site of Transylvania University. Before the war it was the
favorite drill ground for Morgan’s Lexington Rifles. See Coleman, Lexington During
the Civil War, 11.

2.The 54th Indiana, a three-month regiment raised in June 1862, initially guarded
prisoners in Indiana. A portion of the regiment was ordered south to defend against
Morgan’s raid followed by the remainder of the regiment when General Edmund
Kirby Smith entered Kentucky. See Dyer, 4 Compendium of the War of the Rebellion,
3:1140.

3. On July 19, General Green Clay Smith’s brigade drove Morgan from Paris, Ken-
tucky, with no losses. Interestingly, Morgan suggested in his report that he had in-
timidated the Federals at Paris, and he mentioned no loss of any kind. See OR, ser. 1,
vol. 16, pt. 1, 756-59, 769-70.

MoNDAY Jury 21sT [1862]

... The 54th Indiana left this morning. An order issued today for all
the secesh here to be forced to bear arms in the defense of the city.! Several
were taken up & put some in jail & some with the guards in the College
lot. ...

1.The order Miss Peter reported was contradictory to others issued by the city coun-
cil before and after this day that compelled southern sympathizers to remain in their
homes. See Perrin, History of Fayette County, Kentucky, 456.

TuEsDAY JuLy 22ND [1862]

It seems that the order for the secesh to bear arms was only done to
scare them a little; the reason for it was this. Some secesh meeting some of
the home guards, made insulting remarks on their having to take up arms
for the defense of the city & the soldiers took their revenge by that order.
The companies were all dismissed today & business resumed, as all danger
from Morgan is over for the present. The secesh are furious because he
didn’t come to Lexington.

WEDNESDAY JuLy 30TH [1862]

Yesterday a body of rebels from Owen Co. went to Mount Sterling &
summoned it to surrender. The people replied “if they wanted the town
they might come & take it.” A fight ensued & the rebels were driven from
the town by the home guards, and had retreated but a short distance when
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they were met by a portion of Warner’s reg. from Lex. who killed,
wounded, & captured nearly the whole party, taking all their horses.

SATURDAY AUGUST 2ND [1862]

About 114 prisoners were brought from Mt. Sterling & lodged in the
county jail. ...

SATURDAY AUG 9TH [1862]

... Several young men left here today to escape enlisting but were
arrested at Covington. The secesh comply very readily with the order
requiring them to pay for the damage done by Morgan’s guerrillas. They
evidently expect that “gentleman” back in full force soon. The hospital has
been ordered to be prepared for 1000 more men & it is thought hospital
no. 1 will be opened again as no 2 can hardly accomodate so many.!

1. General Lew Wallace was preparing the city for an expected fight against General
Kirby Smith’s advancing Confederate army. See Perrin, History of Fayette County,
Kentucky,456-57.

SUNDAY AUG 17TH [1862]

One of last evening’s trains was stopped by a messenger & returned to
Lex. Pa came home this evening & told Ben he would have to leave town
this evening if he didn’t wish to be detained for an indefinite time as
martial law would be declared tomorrow. The people of Richmond Ky are
leaving that place & something is evidently in the wind. The Governor &
Lieut-governor will resign at 10 o’clock tomorrow. Mr. James F. Robinson
will be governor & Mr. D.C. Wickliffe Secretary of State. . . .!

1. Unionists in Kentucky’s legislature attempting to lead the state toward the Union
were hampered by Governor Beriah Magoffin's conservatism, especially his insis-
tence on the state’s “neutrality.” After abandoning that policy, Magoffin agreed to
resign. With the lieutenant governorship vacant, and after Speaker of the Senate
John F. Fisk stepped down, Magoffin’s hand-picked successor, Senator James F.
Robinson, was inserted in Fisk’s place. Magoffin resigned and, in a perfectly orches-
trated scenario, Robinson assumed the governorship on August 18, 1862. See John
David Smith, “James F. Robinson,” in Kentucky’s Governors, 1792-1985, ed. Lowell
H. Harrison (Lexington: Univ. Press of Kentucky, 1985), 74.

Tuespay [AucusT] 19TH [1862]

The city council has issued a resolution that all able bodied citizens
shall attach themselves to some company & drill every evening at 4 o’clock
at which time all shops shall be closed! and Warner issued an order to
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enforce the resolution & that all disloyal citizens should not be permitted
on the streets after 4 PM. News from Richmond today is that there were
3000 rebels there & the 400 home guards retreated in direction of Lex.
The stage from there this evening brings news that there hasn’t been a
rebel soldier there. I imagine that dispatch was got up to make a sensation
in Ohio & Indiana & hurry up troops.

1. Mayor Worley issued this order on August 18. See Perrin, History of Fayette County,
Kentucky, 456.

WENSDAY [AuGusT] 20TH [1862]

A very bad accident occurd today. About three o’clock this morning a
freight train of about 8 car was thrown off the track down a steep declivity
about six miles this side of Cynthiana. It is thought the secesh of the
neighborhood knowing troops were expected that way tore up the track in
two places, to be sure of destroying them. All on the freight train were
killed but the conductor. It is said a messenger was sent to warn the train
but he was shot by the guerillas. A few days ago a squad of 70 men from
the hospitals on their way to their regiments were attacked & taken by
1000 guerillas. But not without resistance for though not half of the brave
fellows were armed they defended themselves as long as possible killing 9
of the secesh while they only killed 8 of ours. Cap Cochran' of Lex it is
said when he found they were about to be surrounded tore off his shoulder
straps & hid in the bushes till the rebels were gone when he came post
haste to Lex. to give the news. . ..

1. Miss Peter may be referring to John C. Cochran of the 14th Kentucky (U.S.),
formerly an officer in the Lexington Chasseurs. See Perrin, History of Fayette County,
Kentucky, 449.

SATURDAY AUG 23D [1862]

An order issued last night that all able bodied hands belonging to
secesh should be taken to work on the roads. Between 100 & 200 were
obtained today.

MOoNDAY AuG 25TH [1862]

A skirmish took place Saturday between Metcalf’s men & a body of
rebels near Big Hill 18 miles beyond Richmond.! The greater part ran
shamefully at the first shot, but the rest stood by their Col in a most
gallant manner. The rebels were defeated in the end but Col Metcalf said
if it hadn’t been for a Tennessee regiment which came to the rescue in the
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nick of time he would have been cut to pieces. There are six generals in
town today. Nelson, Lew Wallace, Jackson, Hanson, Craft & Cassius
Clay.?

1. On August 23, Confederate cavalry under Colonel John Scott clashed with Colo-
nel Metcalfe’s brigade at Big Hill. The 7th Kentucky Cavalry (U.S.) fled the field in
disorder while a portion of the 3rd Tennessee Cavalry (U.S.) remained with Metcalfe
to delay the Confederates. This skirmish represented General Braxton Bragg’s initial
steps in the invasion of Kentucky. See OR, ser. 1,vol. 16, pt. 1, 884-86, and Connelly,
Army of the Heartland, 213-14.

2. The concentration of troops in Lexington included Generals William Nelson,
Lew Wallace, James S. Jackson, Cassius Marcellus Clay, and Mahlon Manson (no#
Hanson). See Warner, Generals in Blue, 26, 344,536,248, 84,117.

Fripay Auc 291H [1862]

Nelson was furious at the way Metcalf’s men behaved & had the
straglers arrested wherever found. They were taken to Col. McCook’s
camp near Lex. & every one made to run round a stump for 24 hours
without stopping. A company of the 93d Ohio® has been encamped in the
college lawn near our house as provost guard but left today & another
company (from the 52 Ohio? I believe) has taken their place. A right funny
story is told of Gen Nelson. When he was in Nashville or Danville, I
forget which, he was one day passing a house at the door of which stood a
very fine lady who spit on him when he was opposite to her. “Madame”
said he “I don’t allow anyone to treat me in that manner so you must
apologize. I've been looking around for a house that will do for a hospital
& I have 50 smallpox patients in my regiment. If you don’t make me your
best curtsey and apologize in the words I dictate, I shall quarter them on
you.” The lady obeyed at once & never gave him any more trouble. (He
didn’t really have any smallpox cases among his men, just said it to scare
her).

1. Mustered just three days prior, the 93rd Ohio Infantry arrived in Lexington on
August 23. The regiment marched to the aid of General William Nelson, contesting
General Kirby Smith near Richmond, Kentucky, later that day. See Dyer, 4 Compen-
dium of the War of the Rebellion, 3:1537.

2. Also mustered in August 1862, the 52nd Ohio was rushed to the aid of Nelson on
August 29. See Dyer, 4 Compendium of the War of the Rebellion, 3:1521.

SUNDAY AUG 31sT [1862]

Fighting been going on at Richmond for the last few days' & there
has been no end to the false reports & rumors. This morning they said
Wiashington, Cumberland Gap & Glasgow all taken by the rebels.
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Richmond surrendered, Col Warner killed etc. Last night a regiment (or it
might have been two) arrived about 11 PM. & stayed all night in the
college lot. Hospital no 1 has been opened & about 200 sick & wounded
there under Pa’s charge, as Dr. Eversman has hospital no 2. Sunday as it
was we ladies went to work making bandages & tearing up old linen as
there was not much at the hospital & we didn’t know how much might be
wanted nor how soon. Gen Wright & staff arrived this morning & took
command. Nelson came from Richmond wounded & went on to Cincin-
nati. Major Bracht came back with the remnant of Warner’s regiment. I
can learn nothing certain about Col. Warner. Jackson’s cavalry arrived
tonight, is going right on to Richmond. The news tonight was that the
rebels had crossed the river & our troops were retreating, but that dispatch
is by the grapevine telegraph.

1. On August 30, 1862, Confederates under General Kirby Smith fought and de-
feated General William Nelson’s Federals at Richmond, Kentucky. The Federals re-
treated to the Ohio River, leaving Lexington and the rest of Kentucky open to
advancing Confederates. See Connelly, Army of the Heartland, 215-16.

MonNDAY SEPT. 1sT [1862]

The rebels have crossed the river so they say all the troops have left
here. Gen Wright gone to Cincinnati. Every man sent from the hospitals
that was able to go & Lexington surrendered for the time. .. .

[THURSDAY] SEPT 18TH 1862

Late Monday evening so I am told some of the union troops drew
themselves up in battle array near the Fairgrounds' & begged their officers
to let them make a stand & strike one more blow for Lexington. But
knowing it to be useless to attempt to resist 30,000 desperate men the
offer was refused & the command given for retreat. Meanwhile the
citizens were in the greatest excitement. Rumors were heard throughout
the day that our army was defeated & that the mayor had sent to surrender
the city; but as no council had been called & the government officers
seemed to know nothing about it, it was not generally known to be true,
until too late to do much in the way of destroying stores etc. It was not
until 6 PM that the fact was known at the hospitals when the doctors set
to work to send off as many men both by the evening train & on foot &
destroy as many stores as possible.

Still even though the next day some of the ladies took away a good
many things that had belonged to the Aid society there were any quantity
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of stores fell into the hands of the rebels, which might have been destroyed
if we had only been told sooner how matters stood. About 2 AM the
rebels took possession of the depot & government storehouses at the edge
of town but found no rolling stock (except I believe a small engine & car
that had been used on the switches and abandoned as of no use) as it had
all been sent away & next day Kirby Smith’s? command entered the city.
Very little demonstration was made over them & they went to work to
parole prisoners. Young Randall (who is in one of their regiments) went to
hospital no. 1 & ordered our sick to the provost office but when there the
provost marshall ordered them to be marched back until an officer could
be sent to parole them. When they went to put the secesh flag on the court
house, they tried to make one of our men do it & when he refused they
shot him but they forced a soldier to do it at last.

Wednesday night John Morgan & some one else (I suppose Basil
Duke®) came to Mrs Morgan’s; the next morning about 6 oclock while
looking at a body of rebels who were marching out the Winchester pike I
overheard one of our servants say to a colored man (who I know) ‘Did
John Morgan come in last night sure enough’ ‘No’ said he ‘and he ain’t goin
to.” ‘Well’ said the other ‘I hear everyone say so.” ‘Well,’ said the man ‘if he
did they had mighty poor joy over it for they were crying over there for to
break their hearts.’ I am certain Morgan brought some bad news, for when
he entered Lexington the next day his mothers house was shut up & they
didnt come to the front door all that day. Morgan’[s] command came in
about 11 AM Thursday Sept 4th A nasty, dirty looking set they were; wore
no uniform but were dressed in grey & butternut jeans or anything else
they could pick up, but were not quite so dirty and mean looking as Kirby
Smith’s. They looked like the tag, rag & bobtail of the earth & as if they
hadnt been near water since Fort Sumter fell. The secesh had said that
when John Morgan came he would have such a welcome as had never
been seen before I confess I was disappointed.

When he did come they did indeed ring the church bells in a doleful
way & the secesh ladies paraded about with the stars and bars in their
hands & streamers of red white & red on their dresses or bonnets. But so
far from Lexington being thrown open to them, it looked liked it was
deserted, the stores were shut, houses closed & the only hurraing was
made by themselves & a few rowdies. They passed along the side street by
Mrs Morgan’s the officers dressed in grey or black & wearing different
kinds of flat hats & feathers with cockades or streamers, the men in
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clothes of various colors only being uniform in respect to dirt, none or very
few having haversacks or blankets (indeed of both infantry and cavalry
very few had knapsacks, blankets or overcoats) & armed with different
kinds of guns, but decorated like their officers with cockades, streamers, or
little flags in their hats. The horses of both officers & men were very fine
& were adorned like their riders. They camped in the court house yard (if
we can say that of men who have no tents) & one company came &
fastened their horses in the college lot, opposite our house. My brother
who came in that day hearing that they were going to draft (as recruits
didnt come fast enough) rode straight home & started on foot to join the
Union forces. (as did also a good many young men) We heard from him
several day[s] after that he was at Louisville How mad we were to see
those rascals! We could hardly keep within bounds. I heard say that a
young lady who lives on the hill while Morgans cavalry was passing her
house, said to her sister ‘Well I cant stand this any longer, I must say what
I think.’ & ‘Look here’ said she to one of the fellows, ‘I say Hurra for
Lincoln. (I mean the President of the United States if you dont know) and
hurra for the Union and the union soldiers.” ‘You do’ said the man getting
very angry. ‘Yes, & hurra for Hell and Damnation.’

The secesh ladies didnt seem to like their looks much more than we
did. Some of them went & sat with Morgan’s men in the courtyard, & all
went about waving flags at the men & in the officers faces but when any
common men came to their houses to ask for something to eat they had
them taken in at the back gate to the kitchen and let the negroes wait on
them. For several days after [Kirby] Smith came in troops were sent out
generally about 6 AM on the Winchester pike & once or twice they had 4
or 5 small cannon with them. Their regiments are most of them not much
larger than a company of one of our regiments. But each had two flags the
stars and bars (some had ‘Shiloh’ on them) & small blue flag with a
crescent. & companies kept coming in & going out so that it was hard to
tell how many men were here or whether the ones that came in were new,
or just the same ones came back. & when they marched they straggled
along so that it was almost impossible to count them.

Meantime the secesh forced the union men to open their stores or
broke into them especially clothing boot & grocery stores sometimes
paying in script & sometimes not paying at all Some of the union men had
hid a good many of their stores. Mr Lancaster’ among the rest had hid a
good many boxes of boots in a house back of his store, but some of the
neighbors knew of it & told. Mr Lancaster offered to give them two boxes
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if they would leave him the rest but they refused and took the whole with
out offering the least compensation. They went to Mr Shaw’s® and Mr
Wirts’” & to the Wheeler & Wilson rooms where the Aid Society used to
meet, & helped themselves to hats & clothes a[nd] took everything
belonging to the Society. Saxton® had concealed the instruments belonging
to his band in some house on Main Street, as he said he would rather
break them than let the rebels get them, but as they were worth about 400
dollars he thought he might perhaps save them. But a Mrs. Wood who
lived opposite, found it out & told the rebels who got them & litterally
forced Saxton & his band to play for them.

They took Hospital No 1 & sent some of our men to the Medical
Hall until they could get passes & we could hear them in the evenings
while they sat on the hall steps singing ‘Star Spangled Banner’ and ‘Red,
White and Blue,” never minding the guards in the least They took Mr.
Montells Iron Foundry,’ to make shot & sent a company to Estill Fur-
nace’® to get iron. There was for 4 or 5 days a company of Buford’s' men
in the college lot opposite us, who went out every day either during the
day or late at night on picket or scouting duty & once they were relieved
by another company (whose I don’t know) but they had with them a blue
flag with a red cross surrounded by stars on one side & ‘on to victory’ on
the other. They didnt trouble anyone except by their noise & there being
so many horses near us, but we kept our house shut & doors locked, from
the day Morgan came in, as also did other union people & even the secesh
for a while for fear that some fellow might take it into his head to pay us a
visit & because we were afraid of the house being searched

One evening after this company left the lot, for good, Pa asked my
sister for some music for we hadnt had any for fear of attracting the rebels
& while she was playing somebody knocked on the front door with their
fist. Lettie jumped up & ran to the door, thinking nothing but that she
might prevent them from entering & found two rough dirty fellows who
told her they would like to come in & hear her play & tried to do so, but
Lettie pushed them out & told them if they wanted to hear her play they
could stand by the window & listen. But they couldnt come in. & then
went back to the piano. The night after John Morgan came in we were
woke up by whooping in the streets. We naturally supposed it to be fire
and so it proved to be, two stables out Broadway. Mr. Lawless'? and some
one else, I forget who. And all the while this horrid whooping continued
and at the same time the rebels at the college were singing and laughing
and talking. It sounded exactly as if Indians had set the town on fire and
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were dancing and whooping and singing around the flames. It proved to
be Indians that made the whooping, there are one or two with Morgan’s
guerillas and several others in one of the Florida regiments; horrid fellows
they are.

The first day the rebels came in Miss Carrie Preston’® went down to
Main Street & amused herself by tearing up & trampling on a union flag
which had been taken from one of the buildings there.* They got hold of
the Union flag belonging to the hospital & fastened it to one of their
horses and the man he belonged to rode him down the street dragging the
flag in the dust. Once the horse hitched his foot in the flag & nearly threw
the scamp off. When hospital No 1 was full the rebels took half the
Dormitory and supplied themselves with beds from the college & put the
men under charge of Dr Jim Keiser of this city. They sent off our men
from hospital No 2 (all that could or would go for some of the nurses &
the steward and Dr Evermann® would not leave the sick) & when all were
gone but a few, they took the college & put our men in the empty half of
the Dormitory leaving them to depend to the care of the ladies for stores.
& appropriated all the clothes knapsacks & stores in the college for their
own use.

When our men were being sent off we couldnt help comparing them,
so clean & gentlemanly looking & looking so well fed & the half starved,
half clothed, dirty wretches who guarded them. Our men all seemed in
good spirits when starting & told us they were coming back as soon as
they could. It looks so strange to see some of the dirty rebels dressed in our
soldiers uniforms & they seem to be ashamed of it too, for if any one
remarks upon it, they hang their heads & hurry by pretending not to hear
A good many arrests have been made, some for refusing to obey Gen
[Kirby] Smiths order to take script’® (nobody will take it if they can help it
& some of the country people stopped coming to town or only went to
private houses where they could get good money in order to avoid taking
script. One man in market on[e] day having a large jar of butter finding
they wouldnt let him sell for anything but that gave it all away rather than
take it.) & some at the instigation of resident secesh.

Pa has been arrested three times the first time Col Gracie'’ sent for
him & wanted him to take the oath to the confederacy; of course Pa
refused, the Col then wanted him to leave the state. Pa represented to him
that his family & business were here & he preferred to stay. The Col then
made him give parole not to give information to the union party & said he
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might stay here while any of our soldiers were here. The next time the Col
had him arrested (upon what charge I dont remember) he ordered him not
to leave his house except to go to the hospital. & the last time he was
arrested by Capt Haws orders but the Capt not being found he was
allowed to go. . ..

We have had the exquisite pleasure of reading once more the Ken-
tucky Statesman which was begun shortly after their arrival. By whom
edited it not stated. . . . It is the only paper allowed to the citizens of
Lexington. Among other things is issued an order from headquarters
(which are at Mrs. Vertners house on the corner below us) that all free
negroes should come before a certain time & deliver up all government
stores in their possession (for before Quartermaster Brown left, a good
many stores were given away to anyone that wanted them) on pain of
having their houses searched & of being arrested.'®* Which order was
carried into effect & a good many houses searched & from one colored
man named Laurence Hawkins®® they took lately on pretence of this order
some 400 dollars he had saved.

One day of the second week after their arrival John Mc—— who
drives our wagon said when he was coming in from [the] mill he met about
400 cavalry going out the Newtown road & soon after met the halfbreed
Wash. Morgan® (who is some kin, I don’t know what, to John Morgan)
who asked him if he had seen any cavalry pass. “Yes” said John “they are just
ahead.[”] “Well” said the half breed, “I wish you would give me some
tobacca for my nigger has all of mine & he has gone on with the rest.[”]
John gave him some & asked where he was going. “To Cynthiana” said
Morgan . . . our men are fighting there & we are going to reinforce them.?

One night last week John came to tell Pa that the rebels were going to
send stores to Harrodsburg & that Rogers who lives near Pa’s place on the
hill where he keeps his wagon & horses wanted them to press them into
the service. John was very much disturbed about it but finally concluded it
would be better to go with them quietly. When he represented to the
officer however that to take away the wagon was to take from him the
means of supporting his family, the officer ordered it not to be touched &
said John was a fine fellow.

Last Saturday a train of 41 or 42 ambulances came from Cincinnati
under a flag of truce to get such sick and wounded from Richmond &
Lexington as could be moved. They went on to Richmond & returned
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Monday night. It was a very dark windy evening but nevertheless the
ladies got supper and took to the men. They stayed one day and then left
taking all of our men but about 27. The hospital steward went with them
& said he was coming back as soon as exchanged to get the rest. Mr.
Elrod? of this city also went with them in a wagon borrowed from a
friend, but his wife told that he had gone & as he had no pass, they sent &
arrested him and sentenced him to solitary confinement.

One of the doctors who came with the ambulances brought Pa a
Cincinnati Gazette the first we had seen since the rebels came here (for
they have possession of the post office & don’t allow any papers or letters
to pass without being sent first to headquarters, & anyone writing from
here has to show the letter to the General). It [ Cincinnati Gazette] told us
that McClelland had whipped Jackson in Maryland,® which was some
compensation for the news that Bragg had Munfordville. An extra
Statesman was issued stating that Bragg had won a bloodless victory there
on Monday 15th & Buell had no longer a chance left. We have seen two
Louisville Journals during these three weeks both brought good news from
Maryland & said the rebels have been driven out of Agusta & Maysville
by the gunboats.? The last time any papers were brought here the man
who had them was imprisoned & Kirby Smith issued a order that anyone
who should be found reading northern papers should be arrested.

We saw a proclamation of Gen Braggs Wednesday I think® (though I
am not sure for everything has gone on in such a disorderly manner &
time has hung so heavy on our hands that one day seems like two or three)
addressing the people of Kentucky in the usual style & telling the women
to buckle on the armor of their fathers & give free vent to their enthusi-
asm, which we did accordingly by saying every thing we pleased. A poor
sickly looking fellow stopped at the door the same day & had a talk with
Ma. He was dressed in an old suit of the Lex. Chasseurs that he said a
young man (a neighbor of ours) whose cousin left them with him, had
given to him. He said he was from Florida, that he & a good many others
had been “poked” into the army at the point of the bayonet,? but he said
“don’t say anything about it for I only tell it to you as between friends for
they would poke a bayonet through any of us that said so”. ... He said he
had had the measles when they first started & had never been well since,
that he had never fought a stroke against the union troops and didn’t
intend to. That he never expected to come this far & that all he care for
now was to see home once more. Ma asked him what he got to eat at the
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hospital & if he was taking any thing for that dreadful cough he had. No,
he said, he wasnt & that they had plenty of bread & mutton up there.

Ma said he ought to be taking something else than that & asked if the
secesh ladies didn't bring things up there for the sick. “Yes” he said “but
they leave them with the steward (Ma told him that was because his
doctor had ordered the ladies not to distribute things to the men) &
sometimes he will give me things & sometimes he won't. He says they are
for the sickest and men like me can eat meat & bread.” That they had milk
up there every day but not enough & he had only been able once to [get]
any & then it was buttermilk. That he thought if he could get milk or
chicken soup he would get well. Ma told him she would very willingly
have given him some milk but that the evening before some of the secesh
who are quartered in or near our lot milked & maltreated not only our cow
but several others & so she had none. But some union ladies coming by
just then from our hospital she told them what he wanted & they got it for
him the next day. He appeared to be very thankful & said the union ladies
here had always spoken kindly to him. Once when Ma said something
very strong against the Confederacy he said I don't say it to threaten you,
but as a friend, that I heard there was an order out that any one who spoke
against the Confederacy was to be arrested & I wouldn't like to see that
happen to you after you have been kind to me.

Thursday was appointed as a day of thanksgiving for Braggs victory &
all the churches were ordered to be opened but the Episcopal minister Mr.
Shipman? pleaded illness & at Mr. Branks? (the 2nd Presbyterian) there
were only one or 2 people present. Mr. Mathews? of the 1st Presbyterian
didn’t come & when they sent for him he said he couldn’t come & when
they sent a second time he said he neither could nor would come. So as
their own chaplain had been ordered to preach at camp Kirby Smith read
the service himself which gave rise to a good deal of fun among the union
people. That same evening they had a concert at Odd Fellows hall but the
only performers were Saxtons Contra bands & the music was miserable. . . .

1. The old Lexington Fair Grounds, owned by the Agricultural and Mechanical As-
sociation, were located near the south edge of town, where the University of Ken-
tucky Administration Building now stands. The site served as a camp and drill grounds
for Union troops for several months early in the war. See Coleman, Lexington Dur-
ing the Civil War, 25.

2. A Floridian, Edmund Kirby Smith (1824-1893) is best known for his command
of Confederate forces in the Trans-Mississippi Department, 1862-1865. He took
part in Bragg’s invasion of Kentucky and led the victorious Confederate troops at
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A flyer announcing one of many
benefits staged during the war
for Union soldiers in Lexington
hospitals. The Miss Peter listed
in the show’s second song is
probably Lettie, Frances’s older
sister. (Evans Collection,
Special Collections and
Archives, University of
Kentucky Libraries)
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Richmond on August 30, 1862. See Robert L. Kerby, Kirby Smith’s Confederacy (New
York: Columbia Univ. Press, 1972), and Joseph H. Parks, General Edmund Kirby
Smith, C.8.A. (Baton Rouge: Louisiana State Univ. Press, 1954).

3. Basil Wilson Duke (1838-1916), a native of Scott County, Kentucky, was edu-
cated at Centre College and Transylvania University. Early in the war he enlisted as
a private in the Lexington Rifles, the company commanded by his brother-in-law,
John Hunt Morgan. Duke was captured during Morgan’s raid into Ohio and Indi-
ana, but was exchanged and later held commands in eastern Kentucky and western
Virginia. At the close of the war his brigade served as escort to Jefferson Davis and
the fugitive Confederate government. See Michael B. Ballard, 4 Long Shadow: Jefferson
Davis and the Final Days of the Confederacy (Jackson: Univ. Press of Mississippi, 1986),
122-27.

4. Late in the war many Confederate soldiers wore uniforms colored by a yellowish-
brown dye made of copperas and walnut hulls. See Faust, ed., Historical Times Illus-
trated Encyclopedia of the Civil War, 101.

5. Owner of a dry goods business, George Lancaster was a member of Captain S.D.
Bruce’s Lexington Chasseurs. John Ennis, one of Lancaster’s clerks, was a member
of the rival Lexington Rifles. Perrin, History of Fayette County, Kentucky, 646.

6. Hiram Shaw, a Unionist, was a partner in the hat firm of H. and J.P. Shaw and Co.,
located on the south side of Main Street, between Mill and Upper. The store was
raided again in June 1864 by Morgan’s men, who exchanged their battered headgear
for stylish new beaver hats. See Perrin, History of Fayette County, Kentucky, 466, and
Williams’ Lexington City Directory, 83.

7.John H. Werts operated a clothing store on the south side of Main Street, opposite
the Court House. See Williams’ Lexington City Directory, 101.

8. Born in Boston, Henry A. Saxton arrived in Lexington in 1838. His trade was
ornamental painting, but he loved and taught music. In June 1861 Saxton organized
a“Cornet and Orchestral Band,” later led by his son, Henry Jr. See Perrin, History of
Fayette County, Kentucky,714.

9. Probably the Lanckhart and Mentelle Iron Foundry, located on the southeast cor-
ner of Spring and Short Streets. During their brief occupation of Lexington in Sep-
tember and October 1862, the Confederates prepared to use this facility to produce
armaments. See Williams’ Lexington City Directory, 105, and Coleman, Lexington
During the Civil War, 36.

10. Iron first was produced in Estill County around 1810. The Estill steam furnace
operated from 1830 to 1874.The county’s iron industry declined after the Civil War.
See Kleber, ed., The Kentucky Encyclopedia, 298.

11. A native of Woodford County, Kentucky, Abraham Buford (1820-1884) attended
Centre College and graduated from West Point in 1841. When General Braxton
Bragg invaded Kentucky in 1862, Buford cast his lot with the South and was ap-
pointed a brigadier general.

12. R.C. Lawless lived on the west side of Broadway opposite the Lexington Brew-
ery. See Williams’ Lexington City Directory, 65.

13. Caroline H. Preston was daughter of Confederate General William Preston. Her
mother, Margaret, was the daughter of Robert Wickliffe of Lexington. See Preston-
Johnston Papers, Division of Special Collections and Archives, University of Ken-
tucky Library.

14.The preceding seven sentences, missing from the original manuscript in the Evans
Papers, are derived from a partial transcript of the Peter diary.
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15. Dr. D.H. Eversman was in charge of Hospital No. 2 at this time.

16. The order requiring Lexington citizens to accept Confederate script, issued Sep-
tember 4, 1862, was intended to allow poorly clad Confederate soldiers to supply
themselves from abundantly stocked stores. See Perrin, History of Fayette County,
Kentucky, 460-61.

17. A native of New York City and a graduate of West Point, Archibald Gracie Jr.
(1832-1864) recruited and commanded the 43rd Alabama Regiment. After serving
in East Tennessee and in the Kentucky campaign, Gracie was killed at Petersburg,
Virginia, on December 2, 1864.

18. In addition to free Negroes, the order compelled citizens and slaves to surrender
any Federal property to Confederate quartermasters at two locations on Main Street.
Home Guard companies turned in their arms and equipment as well. See Perrin,
History of Fayette County, Kentucky, 461.

19. A free black, Lawson Hawkins, was a grocer on the west side of Broadway near
Main Street. See Williams’ Lexington City Directory, 58.

20. A second cousin of John Hunt Morgan, George Washington (“Wash”) Morgan’s
mother was part Cherokee. George openly identified himself as a Native American
by wearing traditional Indian clothing. He served as an aide, with the rank of major,
on General Morgan’s staff. See Ramage, Rebel Raider, 8, 89, and 274 n.

21. Morgan’s cavalry attacked and captured Cynthiana on September 18, 1862. See
Duke, History of Morgan’s Cavalry, 199-202.

22. Perhaps Miss Peter referred to T.B.E. or E.W. Elrod, brothers in the photogra-
phy business. See Williams’ Lexington City Directory, 47.

23. Simultaneous to Bragg’s and Smith’s invasion of Kentucky, Confederate General
Robert E. Lee led the Army of Northern Virginia into Maryland. He was pursued
and stopped at the battle of Antietam by General George B. McClellan’s Army of
the Potomac on September 17, 1862. General Thomas J. (“Stonewall”) Jackson earned
notoriety as a threat to Washington during his Shenandoah Valley Campaign of
May 1862, and was part of the Confederate army at Antietam.

24. Miss Peter was ill-informed. On September 27, 1862, Basil Duke’s cavalry at-
tacked Augusta, Kentucky, on the Ohio River. Gunboats near the fighting left the
scene without firing a shot, compelling the Federals under Colonel Buford to surren-
der. See OR, ser. 1, vol. 16, pt. 1, 1013-15.

25. General Bragg issued his proclamation on September 14, 1862. See OR, ser. 1,
vol. 16, pt. 2, 822.

26. After four months of conscription, Florida had enlisted fewer than two hundred
men in the Confederate army. See John E. Johns, Florida During the Civil War
(Gainesville: Univ. of Florida Press, 1963), 116-18.

27.The Reverend Jacob S. Shipman, a New York native and Yale graduate, became
the minister of Christ Church in October 1861. See Ranck, History of Lexington,
Kentucky,201.

28. The Reverend J.D. Mathews had served Lexington as the Superintendent of
Public Instruction. Despite his unwillingness to preach for Confederates, the Rever-
end represented the Southern Assembly in a sectional rift of the church during and
after the war. See Ranck, History of Lexington, Kentucky, 112-13.

FripAY 19TH SEPT [1862]

John told Pa last evening that the secesh troops from Georgetown had
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taken possession of his mill. Pa went down today to see the general about
it & told him he thought he had said private property should be respected.
Kirby Smith said he had & Pa should be paid for the use of the mill & for
whatever was in it. Pa replied, yes, they would pay him in Confederate
notes, which would be of no use at all to him as there was 1200 bushels of
wheat at the mill unpaid for & the person of whom he bought it wouldn’t
take “script.” Smith then promised to send an officer to see about it, &
said Pa might supply himself as usual with what was wanted for the use of
his family & gave him the liberty of the city again. About a week ago they
took Montmullins mill in the same way.

The company that went to Estill came back the other day with several
wagons of iron & they are working as hard as they can making shot &
shell. We asked Mr. Montell if he couldn’t manage to spoil them in some
way but he said they had their own workmen & he had no chance to do
anything. Anyhow they cant make many shell for they havnt the ammuni-
tion & they say the shot is not larger than 6 pound.! The last Statesman
advertised for 100 girls to make cartridges. . . .

1. Artillery ammunition was often designated by its weight. Six-pound shot, abun-
dant early in the war, was phased out by Union and Confederate armies because of
insufficient range and power. See Echoes of Glory: Arms and Equipment of the Confed-
eracy (Alexandria, Virginia: Time-Life Books, 1991), 289.

SATURDAY [SEPT.] 20TH [1862]

This morning several soldiers passed going to the hospital & Ma
asked one “where he was from.” “Texas” he said gruffly. Ma told him she
meant where he was from last. “Covington” he said. “You've had a fight
there haven't you” said Pa. Yes, he said surlily. “And have had to retreat?”
No, he replied angrily, “we didn’t retreat we only came back to get water.[”]*

A short time after one of our neighbors came in & said she had just
been to Mrs. Woolleys? & heard good news. She said she went there to see
Mrs. John Payne & she hadnt been there but a few minutes when Nannie
Bain? came in. “Well Nannie” said Mrs. Payne “whats the news!” “Oh
nothing” she said “only I have spent the morning at Mrs. Curds & had
such a splendid time. All the officers were there to breakfast and Theo &I
had just as many beaux as we wanted.” Then she asked Mrs. Payne why
she hadnt come to help make cartridge bags & Mrs. Payne said she had a
boil on her arm & wasnt able to do anything or she would have come. Oh
she said (Nannie Bain) Mrs. Duke & Lu Robb* & Theo Curd & I have
been making them as fast as we can. After a while Mrs. Payne said “Nannie
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did you hear that our men have had to retreat from Covington?” “Oh no!”
said Nannie Bain & all the time she kept looking first at Mrs. &
then at Mrs. Payne & winking to the latter to hush, “no, they didn't retreat.
They only fell back for want of water. I saw a letter this morning from one of
the officers & he says he breakfasted within four miles of the Ohio.” “If he
did” said Mrs. Payne “why did the[y] come back to Lexington for water
instead of going on to the Ohio? Nannie, you know that is not true & it is

no use telling a story about it; our men have retreated”. . . .

1. General Smith ordered General Henry Heth's Division to fall back from Covington
toward Lexington on September 11, 1862. See Connelly, Army of the Heartland, 220.
2. Perhaps Miss Peter refers to the wife of the woolen manufacturer George Wolley,
who lived at the southeast corner of High and Mulberry Streets. See Williams’ Lex-
ington City Directory,93.

3. Twenty-three-year-old Nannie Bain lived in the Robb household with another
member of the Bain family. See Eighth Census of the United States for Fayette
County, 1860, Schedule 1, 606.

4. Lu Robb, twenty-one years old, lived with her family and members of the Bain
family in Lexington. See Eighth Census of the United States for Fayette County,
1860, Schedule 1, 606.

SuNDAY 21sT [SEPT.] 1862

Last night about 11 wagons came in the Georgetown road to the
hospitals & we heard that some of them had wounded in them but we
cannot learn anything certain for the rebels are always very quiet about
such things & keep them as secret as possible. Pa went to the mill today &
found a Captain that [Kirby] Smith had sent overlooking things.

This morning another rebel soldier stopped at the door & had a long
talk. He said he had been at Sumter & Fort Pickens & several other
battles. He appeared to be a good natured fellow & took all that was said
in good sport. He admitted he thought they were in a bad fix here. He
didnt see how they would get out & when he went away he told Ma if the
Union troops got Lexington he was going to come to her house, & he was
going to come back some time & have a long talk with my sister Jo, whom
he seemed to be very much pleased with, because she wasnt afraid to say
what she thought of the rebels.

Last evening some of the girls said they would like to know when
Gen. Smith was going to preach again & where, as they wanted to hear
him. So they sent down to ask at headquarters. The guard said he didnt
know indeed. So they sent again to ask the general & they replied that
Gen. Smith didn’t preach. Those officers seem to have a dull time & it
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looks very dreary to see the bare, carpetless rooms all lighted up & the
windows thrown open & the officers lolling about on the chairs or
yawning over poor old Mr. Vertners books. It is a good thing he didn't live
to see it. It would have broken his heart to see the secesh in his house.

Last night while Pa was at Mr. Gratz’s' two fellows stopped & asked
Mr Gratz if they could get supper there & stay all night. Mr. Gratz told
them they had better go to the hospital or the tavern on Water Street.
They said they had been to the last. Pa then asked whose men they were &
they said they belonged to Churchills regiment? that had just come in from
Georgetown.

1. Benjamin Gratz was born in Philadelphia but in 1819 moved to Lexington, where
he engaged in the manufacture of hemp until his retirement in 1861. An ardent
Unionist, Gratz made his house, adjacent to Mrs. Morgan’s, available as a commis-
sariat depot and cookhouse for Federal soldiers. See Perrin, History of Fayette County,
Kentucky,612-14.

2. This may be the 1st Arkansas Mounted Rifles, a regiment raised by Kentucky
native Thomas James Churchill. See Ezra Warner, Generals in Gray (Baton Rouge:
Louisiana State Univ. Press, 1959), 49-50.

MOoONDAY [SEPT.] 22ND [1862]

Last night there was a very large fire. It broke out about 3 oclock in
the morning & was not entirely out at 8 oclock. Parker Craigs livery stable
& dwelling house, Dr. Majors house & office & Mr McGowans & Mrs.
Cochrans were destroyed. The last name is union & is not in Lexington at
present. The other I believe are all secesh. They say the livery stable was
full of the horses & accoutrements of the secesh & that there were some
kegs of ammunition & some arms at Craigs. We heard several explosions
like muskets being fired when the fire had burned a short while, but they
must have save the greater part. Nearly the whole square was burnt. A
good many horses were injured. All that could be done was to prevent the
fire from crossing the street. The engines were out of order & no use. By
the time they found that out the fire was too far advanced to put it out by
hand. This morning about 8 oclock about 11 wagons passed here going
out, one man told Ma to the country for corn. . ..

TuespAy SEPT 23D [1862]

WEe heard this morning that cannon had been sent back here from
Georgetown & that some of our forces are at Mt. Sterling. Some one told
us this evening that a flag of truce had been sent to Kirby Smith today
giving him 5 hours to surrender the city. . . . A squad of about 30 rebs
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came in the Georgetown road this evening & put up in the college lot
opposite us. The rebel officers seem to be in a very bad humor today. As
one of their niggers said, “Dey’s heard de news & dey looks mighty
oneasy.”

WEDNESDAY [SEPT.] 24TH 1862

The men in the college lot left about 10" o clock this morning. A
short while before they left however Dr. Eversmann was here & when he
left Ma came to the door with him to open it (for we had all the doors
locked & windows closed since the time those fellows came in last
evening) and my little sister wanted Ma to stay at the door. Ma was afraid
some of the fellows might come over if they saw her there but the Dr. said,
“Oh let her stay, I dont reckon they will come.” But they hadnt been at the
door but a few minutes when one came over & ask Ma to lend him a
bucket to water the horses. Ma told him she had very few in the house &
that the last time she lent one the young man didn’t bring it back though
he promised to do so. The man said he would be certain to bring it back.
“No” said Ma “I'd rather not lend any. Why dont you go to one of those
secesh houses (pointing to Mrs. Woolley’s & Mrs Morgans) and get some
of your friends to lend you one?” “Why,” said he “are you an inimy?” Ma
told him she was union if that was what he called “an inimy.” Then he
went back to the lot & Ma heard him say pointing to our house “Why if
that there isnt a damned union house.” The rebels have found a good
many more union houses here than they looked for. For John Morgan
made them believe that they had driven all the union people away.

Mr Hulett told Pa that Humphrey Marshal[l]* was certainly coming
here today from some where in the direction of Mount Sterling, & that he
(Hulett) had been told by the toll gate keeper between here & George-
town that bodies of men were passing the gate all night not in companies
but stragglers who came by different roads from the direction of

Georgetown going in this direction. But whether they were retreating or
what he couldnt tell.

3% PM. Pa has just come home the mill & says a man named Coyle
who had just come from Georgetown said that the rebels had all left that
place & gone to Paris. That the commander of the rebel force at Paris had
sent to Gen Smith begging him “for God’s sake to send reinforcements,”
that there were 80,000 Yankees there. Pa said the rebels hadnt been at the
mill since Sunday and had used only about $340 worth of wheat. He went
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down to see Kirby Smith to get paid for it as he was promised but the Gen
was not there & hasnt been there all day.?

Mzr. Montelle says he saw 4 or 5 wagons of sick and wounded brought
in today & that the rebels here are casting about 150 shell a day besides
shot. They appear to be getting very strict about liberty of speech. They
wont allow us to say anything presently. . . .

Pa went to the commissary about the mill business. When he told his
errand to that individual he was very much surprised & said that there was
not the least necessity for taking the mill as they had plenty of supplys &
that it was the first he had heard of it. So it must have been the doing of
the neighborhood secesh. Pa didnt get paid & I dont suppose he will.

Humphrey Marshall hasnt come that I can learn but his quartermaster
was here today & took 2 wagon loads of goods from Allen’s. Besides
paying Mr. Lancaster’s store a visit & helping himself there & at Mr.
Shaws. They went to Cochrans carpet store® & took nearly all his finer
carpets to cut up for saddle blankets, & said if they couldnt get enough
blankets they would go to private houses & get them.

1. Humphrey Marshall (1812-1872) was born in Frankfort, Kentucky, and gradu-
ated from West Point in 1832. Giving up his commission to practice law and enter
politics, Marshall served four terms in Congress. He became a brigadier general in
the Confederate army in October 1861 and participated in Bragg’s invasion of Ken-
tucky in 1862, but his war record was not outstanding. After resigning his commis-
sion Marshall represented Kentucky in the Confederate Congress. In addition to
Warner, Generals in Gray, 212-13, see Thomas B. Alexander and Richard E. Beringer,
The Anatomy of the Confederate Congress (Nashville: Vanderbilt Univ. Press, 1972), 298.
2. General Kirby Smith moved his army away from Lexington to Mt. Sterling on
September 24 in an attempt to block the retreat of Federal General George W.
Morgan’s force from Cumberland Gap. See Connelly, Army of the Heartland, 237.
3. Fifty-year-old James W. Cochran owned the Campbell & Cochran carpet store.
See Perrin, History of Fayette County, Kentucky, 584-85.

THURSDAY 25TH [SEPT.] 1862

Dr. H——said he saw a poor fellow sitting by the side of the street as
he came by looking utterly worn out & he stopped & said, “my poor boy
you oughtnt to be here. You ought to be with your mother.” The poor
fellow looked up & clapped his hands. “Oh,” he said, “I do wish I was
home. I don’t know who or what you are sir, but I am a union man & I was
forced into the army else I wouldnt have been here.[”] I saw a wagon load
of sick pass here up towards the hospital no 2. Kirby Smith packed up &
went off about noon today to Mt Sterling, leaving Col Gracie in com-
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mand. . . . About 6 ambulances passed this evening & one of the drivers
said they were going to Mount Sterling. About 400 men with 4 or 5
cannon & several wagons went out the Winchester pike about 3 PM.
Marshall’s quartermaster took $700 worth of goods from Shropshires!
today paying double price in script.

1.James H. Shropshire and John L. Cassell sold staples, dry goods, and cloth in their
store on Main Street between Mill and Upper Streets. See Williams’ Lexington City
Guide, 99.

FriDAY SEPT 26 [1862]

About 3 dray loads of the tents used at the fire were brought to the
College lot to dry. We heard that the Louisville Democrat says . . . that
Humphrey Marshall is “gobbled up.” Whoever did it had a mouthful. . ..
John says the secesh have taken possession of the mill again & they say
Marshall is cut to pieces.

John Morgan is in town today & they say he admits he lost 150 men.
One of the Cincinnati papers says that Bragg is marching towards Lexing-
ton. We heard too that our forces from Cynthiana were on the way to
Winchester. Gen Smith said that he would be back in 4 days so they say.
But of all the news we hear how much is true. Heaven only knows!

SATURDAY SEPT 27TH 1862

Pa received pay today for the wheat the rebels used at the mill. 8
wagon loads of sick & wounded came in the Georgetown road. One man
died at Hospital No 2 today. They have been dying lately nearly every day.
... Some of John Morgans men came in today. They had been stationed
near Richmond. But the loyal men of the neighborhood “bushwhacked” &
made the place too hot for them. They dont like that way of proceeding at
all. An Alabama fellow who belonged to some guerilla company (Stonebys
I think he said) or as he called them “Partisan Rangers,” who had a long
talk with Pa at the door about three weeks ago said that coming through
the mountains they had been “bushwhacked” by the union people & once
when five or six of their men had been killed in this way his company
caught some of the offending parties. Pa asked what he did to them.
“Why,["] said he, “we didn’t go & shoot at them from behind a fence &
murder them like they did our own men. We tied them to stakes and shot
them like honorable men.”
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SuNDAY SEPT 28TH [1862]

Report says this morning that Kirby Smith has been whipped.! His
body servant came back the same day they started because his horse gave
out & told the person who told us that the general said to him “if I'm not
back in a week, you had better get back to Virginia the best way you can.”
One or two of Bragg’s officers were in town yesterday & Bragg himself is
said to be at Bardstown.

A few days before Gen Smith left a deputation of secesh ladies, Mirs.
Parker Craig, Mrs. Mitchell, the Misses Jackson & others, went to him &
told him that “his lenient conduct to the union people was ruining them.”
We heard that the rebels had treated Mr. Isaac Scott® very badly. That they
took some $1200 worth of jeans from him, besides refusing to let him sell
any coal or even to fulfil engagements already made with his customers,
but appropriated the whole.

We heard again this evening (& it generally believed) that Smith is
retreating before Morgan & is expected here Tuesday. And some one sent
word to Wm. Warfield to save his horses as they expected the rebels would
take all they could get. . .. 8 PM Gen Smith has returned & headquarters
is lighted up as if for a victory.

1. No engagement took place and General Kirby Smith failed in his attempt to block
General George Morgan’s retreat. See Connelly, Army of the Heartland, 237.

2. Forty-eight-year-old Isaac Scott was a prominent Lexington dry goods merchant.
See Perrin, History of Fayette County, Kentucky, 712-13.

MoNDAY SEPT 29TH [1862]

They say the alarm of fire the other night was at Fisher’s Dye shop.!
He had the overcoats the secesh took from our men to dye &I suppose on
that account some one tried to set the place on fire. Bragg is at Perryville
& S.B. Buckner is at Harrodsburg & Stevenson at Nicholasville.? They say
Gen. Smith is going to move his headquarters to the last place & they
were sending arms away from here as fast as they could yesterday. They
pressed all the black men they could get, as teamsters & levied on Allen’s®
& on White* for about $10,000 worth of goods each. . . . Mr. Montell said
that the rebel Gen Hunter was at his foundry this morning & heard some
of the men complaining that they had got no wages. The Gen ordered
them to hush instantly & that if at the end of the week he should hear
anyone complain of not being paid or even say they were union, they
would be bound hand & foot and sent south. . . . I hope it will not be long
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before the union troops whip these scamps here, for at the rate they are
proceeding now they will strip us of every thing we have. Lexington is
almost ruined now. . . . The secesh robbed a good many free Negroes today
of blankets, etc. . . . There is a concert at Odd Fellows Hall tonight for the
benefit the bills say of the “sick & wounded” & they say there was a guard
put round the hall to prevent attempts to set it on fire. That looks like the
Lexingtonians were glad to see the rebels, dont it!

The secesh have got a new dodge lately. Today when Buckner came,
Bufords 4rigade (I should say not a 1000 men by far) escorted him in &
nearly every man led a riderless horse & sometime three or four to make
the people think there were more than there really was. Our ambulances
returned from Richmond this evening & go tomorrow at 8 AM. They
expect to return again a third time in about a week as some of our men at
Richmond is not able to be moved yet.

1.The J. Fisher Dyeing and Tailoring Establishment stood on the east side of Broad-
way near Short Street. See Williams’ Lexington City Directory, 49.

2. Simon Bolivar Buckner (1823-1914), a Kentucky native and West Point graduate,
supported Kentucky’s neutrality as commander of the State Guard before siding with
the Confederacy. He commanded a division in Bragg’s army. A Virginian and a West
Point graduate, Carter L. Stevenson led a brigade in Kirby Smith’s force. See Faust,
ed., Historical Times Illustrated Encyclopedia of the Civil War, 88, 719.

3. The firm of Allen & Boyd sold dry goods and ready made clothing on the south
side of Main Street and between Mill and Upper. See Williams’ Lexington City Direc-
tory, 25.

4. %homas 'W. White and Brother sold foreign and domestic dry goods. See Williams’
Lexington City Directory, 91.

TuespAYy SEPT 30TH [1862]

Our ambulances were detained this morning by Mr Buck Allen!
having the wagon master Jackson arrested on charge of being a spy. They
detained him at the provost office a long time & when Mr. Jamison (the
late hospital steward) went down to see about his release they arrested him
too, questioned him about the hospital stores & searched his pockets.
When they found they couldnt get anything out of him they let him go.
When he returned to the ambulance he was standing talking to a lady,
when Dr Fox came up & said to Jamison “report yourself to headquarters
immediately sir.” Mr. Jamison replied “I have already do so sir & have been
released.” “Oh,” replied Fox, “I beg your pardon ten thousand times. Is
there anything I can do for you or the men?” & slunk away. . . . Someone
who was at the concert last night told us it was the most shamefully low
affair they had ever seen & they didn’t see how ladies could have the face
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to listen to such obscenities . . . The[y] arrested Mr Geo Hale? this evening
& forced him to take an oath not to bear arms against the Confed & not
to give information to the union forces & not to be exchanged or break his
parole on pain of being shot. The charges against him were I believe that
he had belonged to the home guards & wasnt willing to take script. . . .

1. Perhaps Miss Peter refers to B.E. Allen, a member of the Baptist clergy. See Eighth
Census of the United States for Fayette County, 1860, Schedule 1, 476.

2. George B. Hale, a salesman, lived on the northwest corner of Main and Walnut
Streets. See Williams’ Lexington City Directory, 56.

WEDNESDAY OCT 15T [1862]

About 11 AM a salute of 17 guns was fired to honor so they said the
arrival of Gen Bragg. He didn’t bring his army with him. They say his men
are half naked & would have to be clothed before they could enter any city.
... Gens Preston’, Buckner & Bragg made speeches saying among other
things to the farmers that they wouldnt be bothered with them long. That
they were going to the lakes to feed their armies off of the Yankees, and
praised the Kentuckians very much. . . . They had appointed 6 PM this day
to shoot some 60 of the prisoners but did not for some cause or other carry
out their intention. One of their men was shot today from some house on
Water St. by whom could not be ascertained. . . . The Statesman suggests
that an order be issued to search all kitchens, storerooms, & negro houses
for government arms & stores. . . .

1. General William Preston (1816—1887) was born near Louisville and studied lit-
erature at Yale and law at Harvard. After service as lieutenant colonel with the 4th
Kentucky Volunteers in the Mexican War, he embarked on a successful political ca-
reer, first as a Whig and later as a proslavery Democrat. In 1858 Preston was ap-
pointed U.S. minister to Spain. In April 1862, he was appointed brigadier general
and commanded troops in the Western theatre. Early in 1864 Confederate President
Jefferson Davis named Preston Confederate diplomatic representative to Maximilian,
emperor of Mexico. Preston later served under General Kirby Smith in the Trans-
Mississippi Department. See Kleber, ed., The Kentucky Encyclopedia, 738—39; Peter J.
Sehlinger, “William Preston, Kentucky’s Diplomat of Lost Causes,” in Kentucky Pro-
files: Biographical Essays in Honor of Holman Hamilton, eds. James C. Klotter and
Sehlinger (Frankfort: Kentucky Historical Society, 1982), 73-98, and idem, “Gen-
eral William Preston: Kentucky’s Last Cavalier Fights for Southern Independence,”
Register of the Kentucky Historical Society 93 (summer 1995): 257-85.

THUrsDAY OCT 2ND [1862]

Last night Mrs. Castleman had all her out buildings, negro cabins,
most of the farm implements & $1000 worth of lumber destroyed by fire.
She is a secesh & that is the 5th fire since the rebels came. . . .
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Bragg issued a proclamation giving the Kentuckians 4 or 5 days to
rally to his standard & said that after that if he didnt have enough recruits
the Conscript law should be enforced. . . .!

The rebels say they are going to take the capital, call a legislature &
vote the state out of the Union. The provisional governor Rich. Hawes?
left here for Frankfort yesterday. . . . John heard from his brother in law,
who says he thinks we may expect Buell® Saturday night (he is with Buell)
I hope he will come soon for we are all very tired of the southern Confed-
eracy, and as the darkies say “we’d be monstrous glad to see Massa Buell,”
or Massa anybody else that would get us out of this fix. Fuel is very scarce,
at least for the Union people. Coal sells for 75 ct the bushel & hardly to be
got for love or money. The secesh are keeping it all for themselves. They
say that for the last week 400 bush[els] have been delivered daily at Mrs.’
Morgans. . . .

1. General Braxton Bragg had expected thousands of Kentuckians to flock to his
banner upon his entry into the state. When the recruits failed to appear, he suspected
that loyal southerners feared the loss of their property to Kentucky Unionists. To
protect them, Bragg sought to compel them, or rather to give them, an excuse to join
the army by instituting a draft. See Connelly, Army of the Heartland, 241-45. See also
Grady McWhiney, Braxton Bragg and Confederate Defeat, Volume 1: Field Command
(New York: Columbia Univ. Press, 1969), 295-97.

2. The Provisional Government of Kentucky, which had its genesis in the Frankfort
Peace Convention of September 1861, and “secession” meetings in October of that
year, appointed George W. Johnston governor and Richard Hawes lieutenant gover-
nor. Hawes succeeded Johnston upon the governor’s death at the battle of Shiloh.
See E. Merton Coulter, The Civil War and Readjustment in Kentucky (Chapel Hill:
Univ. of North Carolina Press, 1926), 137-38, and McWhiney, Braxton Bragg and
Confederate Defeat, Volume 1,297.

3. Buell’s arrival at the battle of Shiloh, April 6-7, 1862, helped stave off Union
defeat. His cautious response to the Confederate invasion of Kentucky and his fail-
ure to pursue the enemy after the battle of Perryville led to his removal from com-
mand. See Faust, ed., Historical Times Illustrated Encyclopedia of the Civil War, 88, and
James Lee McDonough, War in Kentucky: From Shilok to Perryville (Knoxville: Univ.
of Tennessee Press, 1994), 223-226.

Fripay OcTt 3RrD [1862]

... A Mr Harcourt' [?] was imprisoned the other day an kept in that
dirty jail two days & nights. They told him that he had been arrested
because they heard his daughter had waved a flag at the union ambulances.
That is only one out of a great many arrests that have been made lately. An
order was issued to the shopkeepers not to sell anything until the rebels
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had got what they wanted. So all today they were going the rounds of the
stores helping themselves.

Humphrey Marshall was in town today & I suppose that order was
partly for his benefit. . . .

Gen Smith has always seemed to be a peaceable person who wouldnt
take the trouble to annoy other people, so long as they didnt interfere with
him. And most of the things he has done to the Union people have been
at the instigation of resident secesh who are much more bitter than the
rebel soldiers. . . . A man was drummed out of one of the regiments this
evening for what I don’t know. They say 500 have deserted since they came
here. The troops at Georgetown received marching orders today for
Frankfort. The Governor is to be inaugurated tomorrow & the rebels say
they are going to have 30,000 men there to witness it.

50 sick came from Frankfort today. As they were on their way to
hospital no 2, one of them dropped down on the steps of one of our
neighbors. The lady of the house seeing him drop down as if about to faint
came to the door with some water and had a long talk with him. Among
other things he said they were from Frankfort. That the people there were
all union. They wouldnt give them (the rebels) anything to eat if they
could possibly avoid it. . . .

The secesh released the prisoners at the jail today on parole. They say
they had been paroled before, but were stopped by the secesh & brought
back. All the time they were in jail the rebels never pretended to give them
anything to eat & if it hadn’t been for some of the union ladies sending
them things they most likely would have starved.

A guard was posted all over town tonight . . . this is the first night
there has been a sentinel on our corner. They say they are going to send
away the women who have been staying with our sick as nurses & washer-
women. When the secesh came these women would not leave the men,
but stayed & worked for them just the same as if they still got wages &
when the rebels took hospital no 2 & our men had no one to cook for
them these women did that too. If the rebels send them away the poor
fellows will be left entirely dependant on the ladies of the town & the one
or two regimental nurses who still remain. . ..

1.R. Harcourt, a Lexington grocer, had two daughters, M.L., twenty-two, and S.W.,

twenty. See Eighth Census of the United States for Fayette County, 1860, Schedule
1,564.
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SATURDAY OCT 4TH [1862]

Some of the union ladies who were at the hospital no 2 today as usual
taking things to our sick said the secesh begged them to give them some
too. The ladies asked if the secesh ladies didnt send things up there. “No”
they said “they have stopped sending.” So the ladies gave them what was
left after the union soldiers were fed. The secesh ladies like very well to
flirt with the officers but they dont take any notice of the common men.
Poor wretches! The Confederacy hasn’t done much for them! A great
many of the secesh soldiers . . . wear the clothes that were found at the
quartermasters & the hospitals when our own men left. The union ladies
teased them every where they went, about the “Lincoln breeches” &
wearing the “livery of Lincoln’s hirelings” (as the secesh used to call our
soldiers uniforms) and would pretend sometimes to think they were our
men and ask them if they had been paroled & when they were going to be
exchanged. One day when a lady had teased one in this way he turned to
her & said, Ma’am if you knew how much these pants cost us you wouldnt
call them “Lincoln breeches” for we didnt get them for nothing. We had to
pay $5 a pair to the quartermaster & so we have a good right to them. A
good many of them have had black stripes put down the sides.

We heard that Crittenden® had said he would be at Frankfort with
40,000 men today to witness the inauguration of the provisional governor.
About 5 o'clock Mrs. Curds servant told us that a messenger brought a
letter to headquarters saying Kirby Smith had been whipped at Frankfort.
I hope it is true. . . . Pa also heard it downtown. We heard that an order
had been sent to the secesh ladies to be ready for first they said 200 & then
1000 wounded, and that R. Scott had sent to Mrs. Morgan not to come to
Frankfort as she had intended. . ..

John Morgan came in about 5 or 6 oclock this evening with about 60
of his advance guard & put up in the College lot. They seemed to be
mostly the raw recruits that have joined since he came here. About the
same time John came up to see Pa with a wagon load of oats. The guerillas
saw it & came over to get it for their horses. John wasnt very willing to
give it up as he had had some trouble getting it and wanted it for his own
horses. But the officer who came over said he must have it and offered to
pay $5 in “Lincoln money” double price. He did so & also let John take
enough of it to feed his horse. . . .

1. George Bibb Crittenden (1812-1880) graduated from the U.S. Military Academy
(1832) and fought in the Mexican War. Appointed a brigadier general in the Con-
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federate army in 1861, he lost the battle of Mill Spring in January 1862. Though
exonerated for his part in the defeat, Crittenden resigned his commission in October
1862 and served the rest of the war as a colonel. See Kleber, ed., The Kentucky Ency-
clopedia, 240.

SunpAY OcCT 5TH 1862

The guerillas left this morning about 4 oclock, all but about a dozen.
The secesh are packing up at their camp & about 40 were sent from
Hospital No 2 to their regiments. They say our men have Frankfort & the
rebels are going to make a stand at Laurenceburg. . ..

At 10 AM Humphrey Marshalls army came in the Paris road &
passed right through to join Bragg & Smith. There were only about 2000
men, 8 or 10 cannon with caisons, 150 wagons with 2 U.S. ambulances, &
3 old fashioned Virginia stages full of men. A good many of the wagons
had men in them too. Falstaffs “ragged regiment” was nothing in compari-
son with these, and they marched very slowly as if they had come some
distance. It took more than an hour for them to pass a given place. They
had also a large drove of horses & mules with them. The union people are
afraid the secesh will run a good many negroes off when they go.

They say that while the rebels were inaugurating the governor a shell
came & cut the rebel flag all to pieces. . ..

2 PM The secesh are packing up as hard as they can. Good many of
the rebel citizens too, getting ready to skedaddle . . . All day they have
been sending away every man from the hospital that could possibly go &
taking away or destroying stores. Wagons & carriages have been driving
about. All the baggage remaining at headquarters sent off & officers
getting ready to go as soon as they can. They say they are going to send the
sick & all the stores they can carry off to Harrodsburg. 18 horses, two
wagons & 2 servants were stolen from Mr Aleck Brand. The rebels tried to
set the depot on fire, but did not succeed. . . . Mrs. Morgan & various
others are getting ready to leave. The secesh are taking up negroes tonight
& putting them in jail, to be ready to take with them tomorrow when they
leave. They arrest all the negro men they meet in the streets & even go to
private houses & take them . . . mostly from the secesh as they would be
confiscated when the union troops come in, and they think to save them
by running them off south where their masters can join them. . ..
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[THE FOLLOWING ACCOUNT IN FRANCES PETER’S
HANDWRITING WAS NOT INCLUDED AS PART OF HER DIARY.
I'T WAS WRITTEN AFTER OCTOBER 5, 1862, THE DATE
INDICATED IN HER DIARY THAT HUMPHREY MARSHALL'’S
TROOPS ENTERED LEXINGTON.]

The entrance of Humphrey Marshall’s “brigade” as the secesh grandly
styled it, or regiment as we would say (for it consisted altogether of about
as many men as would form a regiment or two of ours. And the portion of
it that entered the city could not have been one thousand men. I say
portion because the whole brigade did not come in on the day of which I
speak.) This entrie of Marshall’s men in to Lexington was a spectacle such
as the Lexingtonians had never seen before and would not care to see
again. One could hardly say whether it was most ludicrous or pitiful. The
long train of ricketty wagons, the antiquated, yellow Richmond Va. stage
coaches which had been dragged from their shelves where they had been
laid up, certainly not in lavender, for length of years and brought out once
more into the light of day much against their will to judge from the
creaking and groaning of their rusty wheels, to deck the baggage train of
the fat General in his weary march through Kentucky and serve as
ambulances for his sick and wounded. The poor, dirty, ragged, barefooted,
or almost barefooted men (for very few could boast a decent pair of shoes,
though these were the best dressed of his brigade) with their downcast
looks and shuffling gait, straggling along like a flock of sheep, and every
now and then raising not a good hearty hurrah, but a yelp like that of a
pack of whipped hounds.

One could hardly help laughing and yet it was a pitiful sight in one
point of view, for what true American with that pride of country and
countrymen which is inborn in Americans could not feel sad and ashamed
to see Americans in such a state of wretchedness and degradation even
though brought to it by their own folly and ignorance. By ignorance, for
the slaves who worked the plantations of Dixie could not be more ignorant
of the most common learning, than were the greater part of the common
soldiers of the rebel army that occupied Lexington (which was no doubt
only a sample of all the rest of the confederate armies) every one of whom
considered himself as fitted to be a dictator to the rest of mankind. We had
heard much before of the ignorance of the Southern people but never
believed until we saw for ourselves that it could be so great, but we no
longer wondered that a few designing men could gain such influence over
the South and be able to array so many thousands against the Union of
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their fathers. How could unlettered men judge of the right or wrong of
such a question as was put to them by these politicians? How could men
who had never read the Constitution or heard it read by a faithful inter-
preter know whether what they did was constitutional or not?

Accustomed to place implicit confidence in their politicians and
statesmen and to depend on them in all political matters, how could they
tell if what they represented to them as constitutional was not true? And
what would be easier than to deceive such a people? It was too tempting a
bait for politicians to withstand and as soon as possible they tried to turn it
to their selfish interests. And yet so artfully did they go to work and so
speciously did they talk that they, poor deluded people, believed it was all
their own action and rubbed their hands joyously over the great plan they
thought they had hit upon for restoring the constitution which had never
been so nearly destroyed, or so terribly violated as by this very act of
secession they were so jubilant over, as being such a great stroke of policy.

And these people willingly arrayed themselves against their own
fellow countrymen, and shed their own blood in an unjust cause, and all
because they had been led by bad men to believe they were fighting to
prevent usurpation and tyranny.

And then to think of the long march of Marshall’s men over the
mountains to get into Ky. How, barefooted and ragged they scrambled
through the rocks and brambles, with no food but the green corn standing
in the fields, “mutton corn” as they called it. And no resting place at night
but the bare ground. No shelter from the frost and cold air of the nights
which have lately been chilly, but a scanty blanket or an old overcoat that
they had taken from some of our soldiers, and often not even that, and
that when they arrived here, a greater part of them had not even rags
enough to be able to enter the town but had to remain without the city
until clothes could be procured for them.

If these sufferings had been endured in a good cause they would have
been worthy of unbounded praise and commiseration but when we think
that they were endured only to bring misery and death to the homes of
citizens loyal to the Union, one can only feel indignation and horror for
the vile men who could so delude a people as to make them think that
they were thereby releasing Ky from bondage, and pity for the deplorable
ignorance of a people that could be so deluded. For these poor common
soldiers firmly believed they were conferring a great favor in driving the
Federal troops from among us and were no doubt both surprised and
disappointed that we did not treat them with more consideration and
attention.
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Monpay OcTt 6TH [1862]

... John Morgan has command here now. He made the people open
the shops again today but we heard they were not taking script. There has
been a great bustle and a great deal of galloping about & traveling of
wagons, etc. About 250 head of cattle were brought in today. We have
heard random musket shots all day today. They say the report of the union
forces coming here was merely a feint on the part of Buell to capture the
whole of Braggs army.

Tuespay OcTt 7TH 1862

... This evening several guerillas went to Mr Gratz’s & asked for hay to
feed their horses. There was no one at home but Miriam (Mr G.s oldest
daughter) & the servants. She told them that they had an order from J.
Morgan for the protection of their property; but the fellows said their horses
were famishing & as they were already in the stable proceeding to help
themselves, Miss Gratz had to surrender with the best grace she could.

Some three or four others came a short while afterward and made the
servant tell them when supper would be ready. And at Mr. Gratz’s supper
hour they came stalking in & Mr. G had to take them into the dining
room & sit them down to his table. The guerillas & southern chivalry in
general are very different from the Union soldiers. The latter will sit down
anywhere you tell them, & are not affronted if you bring them something
to the door, but always seem thankful & say it is too good for them. But
the chivalry expect to be taken into the best parlor & have everybody in
the house waiting on them no matter how dirty & slovenly they may be
and even then will hardly think you did enough for them. For our part we
never would let one put his foot inside the house & tell them if they come
& take away every thing we have they oughtnt to expect us to feed them. .
.. There is another point of difference between the north & south. The
northern men if they can’t get anyone to wash for them will do it them-
selves. But the chivalry expect to have a ‘nigger’ to do everything & if they
can’t get one will do without washing & every thing else rather than help
themselves. . . .

... we saw a light on the lower end of town towards Main St. which
we thought must be the rebels burning the stores which they had taken out
of the depot & piled in the Branch.!. .. A large wagon load of things was
sent from Mrs. Morgans about 8 or 9 .M. I think the whole family will go
soon. About the same time a few of Morgans men from the College lot set
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off, I suppose on scouting duty on some of the roads; for I heard the
officer say “fall in scouts, we rendezvous at the Phoenix hotel”. . ..

1. Lexington was settled on the Town Fork of the Elkhorn River. See Perrin, History
of Fayette County, Kentucky, 219.

WEDNESDAY OcCT 8TH 1862

A few days ago the ceiling of Mrs Morgan’s parlor fell down breaking
the mirrors, picture frames, etc. The ladies were much alarmed & thought
it a very bad omen, as there was apparently no cause for it, as the plaster
was not cracking. . . . The fire we thought was stores, was only a barn on
the edge of town. . . . A great many secesh left today taking their negroes.
Reported fighting at Perryville yesterday & last night. . . .!

1. Converging Federal and Confederate armies met at Perryville, southwest of Lex-
ington, and fought to a draw. Bragg withdrew his troops during the night. See
McDonough, War in Kentucky, 297-325.

THURSDAY OCT 9TH [1862]

. .. The rebels were scouring the country yesterday taking all the two
horse wagons & negroes they could lay hands on. We heard they went to
Mr Tom Clay’s' & demanded his wagon & horses & a man to drive. There
was no one at home but Mrs. Clay & the servants. The rebels were told
they should have what they wanted. The man servant was sent to harness
the horses but when all was ready he jumped into the wagon & drove off
as fast as he could. The rebels fired at him, but missed & the man made his
escape. . . .

We got the Cincinnati papers of Monday. . . . Mr. Jamison told Pa it
was true about Crittenden throwing the shell during the inauguration of
the rebel governor.2 And that our troops did drive the rebels out of
Frankfort & march into the town; but they only did this to deceive them
& make them think they were coming right on to Lexington, when in fact
they turned round & marched toward Harrodsburg. They succeeded pretty
well in their designs for the rebels have actually thought they were coming
here by way of Versailles (& so did the union people for a while) & got
ready to leave. The rebels were pretty well scared for a little while. . . .

If the rebels knew we had had northern papers today wouldnt we pay
for it!

They sent Mr. Patterson word again today to move out of his house.
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Mr. P. went down to see the officer about it. Told him he was a British
subject & would complain to the consul. But the officer persisted & told
him if he wasnt out in three hours he would have him put out at the point
of a bayonet. That was extremely short notice. Mr. Isaac Scott gave Mr. P a
place to put his furniture but the difficulty was to get it moved as every
dray & wagon in town was in the service of the rebels.

I saw a stage & spring wagon full of sick taken to hospital No 2 this
morning. They say the rebels at the hospital are very badly attended to,
though hundreds of dollars worth of provisions are stolen every day. Yet
the poor fellows are some times nearly starved. They say men desert all the
time.

Pa was telling us today a funny story of Mr. Davy Sayre.? Before the
secesh came he was a very strong union man (and is now at heart I have
no doubt) but when they took possession here he got so scared or was so
afraid of losing his property that he declared himself a secesh. He used to
pay a visit to headquarters nearly every day & always took the newspaper
there when he had any. One day Col. Gracie was talking to him about Pa
& remarked he thought him a dangerous man. “No, no,[”] lisped Uncle
Davy. “Heth not at all dantherous. Heth very quiet, very quiet. Heth the
moth quiet and inefficienth man in town.” I suppose he meant to say
innocent. . ..

The rebel officers at the Phoenix when packing up told their wives
not to stop to pack large trunks as they couldnt wait for much baggage. So
Col. Worley told Pa this evening . ..

Mrs Martin told us the secesh had come after their two horse wagon
when there was such a push for wagons a few days ago. Her husband had
disabled it & they told the secesh that it couldnt be used & would take a
good while to repair it. They not being inclined to wait for repairs went off
& a few days after Mr. Martin mended the wagon & went into the
country after wood. While it was gone a secesh officer came and asked
Mrs Martin for the wagon. She told him it was in the country & he went
away. Emboldened by their success they sent the wagon out the next day
also & again the officer came after it just as it had turned the corner. Mrs
Martin told him it was in the country & fortunately the rebel did not ask
the road, being perhaps in too great a hurry. But next evening just as the
wagon stopped at the door several rebels came up & seized on it & wanted
to take it away. Mrs Martin told them her husband was a cripple & the
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wagon was his only way of making a living but they wouldnt listen to her.
So pulling out a small pistol which she had got from her husband, she got
into the wagon by the secesh & determined to make one attempt to keep
it. “I can only shoot once” said she, “but I intend to do it & you can kill me
afterward if you like. I will try on one of you first.” She pointed the pistol
at one of them & they seeing she was in earnest, jumped out of the wagon
& skedaddled. But when they got to the next corner stopped & cursed &
swore at her for everything they could think of. Of course she cared very
little for that as they had left her the wagon & never came back for it
again.

1. Thomas Clay was a fifty-six-year-old Fayette County farmer. See Eighth Census
of the United States for Fayette County, 1860, Schedule 1, 506.

2. Actually, General Joshua Sill’s division of Buell’s army crossed the Kentucky River
and bombarded Frankfort during the inauguration. Crittenden’s division was on the
road to Danville. See Connelly, Army of the Heartland, 251-52.

3. Penniless when he arrived in Lexington from New Jersey in 1811, David A. Sayre
amassed a fortune in banking. The land and buildings for the Sayre Female Institute
were donated by M. Sayre in 1854. See Ranck, History of Lexington, 405, and Kleber,
ed., The Kentucky Encyclopedia, 799.

Fripay OcTt 10TH 1862 -

... Mirs Curds servant said that the rebel officer who has been staying
at their house got an order from Kirby Smith to come away from here as
the place would be evacuated, but the poor fellow was too sick to go, I
believe, & Mrs. Griggs' & my Sister Lettie sent him word to stay. That
our men wouldnt trouble him in the least. I dont know whether he will
stay or not. The secesh took possession of the Sayre Institute? this morn-
ing. I think they might have left it alone now after waiting all this time. It
look[s] rather spiteful to take it just when they dont expect to stay here
long & dont know whether they will have any use for it.

They say there is not much more than a corporals guard of rebel
soldiers in town this morning. The secesh wear very long faces. The
soldiers told the secesh ladies they were only going a little way to whip a
few yankees & would be back soon. They hadnt the least idea of evacuat-
ing the town, not they! We will see . . .

ML. . Elliott dismissed his clerks this evening & wants to get union
ones. When the secesh came he had mostly, if not all Union, but he sent
them away & got secesh. And now that he hears the Union troops are
coming he wants to change again.

e 58 ¢



1862

About 6 PM we heard that the secesh major Thomas went in great
haste to Mr. Watson® (one of the clerks in Shropshires store) about some
business or other & told Watson that he (Thomas) would have to be off.
That our men were at Versailles & that our cavalry would be here tonight. .
.. Thomas is quartermaster. Watson said it was amusing to see the way the
secesh were skedaddling this evening, catching up any old horse or mule or
seizing on any conveyance that was convenient. . . .

1. She may be referring to Mrs. Margaret Griggs, twenty-eight, wife of John Griggs.
See Eighth Census of the United States for Fayette County, 1860, Schedule 1,
319.

2. Sayre Institute was founded in 1854 as a private school for females. See Kleber,
ed., The Kentucky Encyclopedia, 799.

3. William Watson, twenty-six, appeared in the 1860 Census as a laborer. See Eighth
Census of the United States for Fayette County, 1860, Schedule 1, 302.

SATURDAY OcCT 11TH [1862]

... The hospitals are pretty full. There dont seem to have been any
arrangements made for removing the sick. It seems they want all their
wagons to put their stolen goods in, for even as late as yesterday evening

Shown here as it appeared in April 1866, the Sayre Female Institute was founded in
1854. (Transylvania University Library)
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the Provost Marshall made them keep the stores open. . . . The secesh say
they are going to Knoxville to try to get out of the state that way.

Pa sent to the mill for Mr. Hoover to set to work & grind night &
day. That he thought as he had done it for the secesh he could do it for
him. For the neighbors threatened to mob the mill because Pa had stopped
it. The secesh when they had possession used up all the wood & Pa
wouldnt buy any more for fear they would come back & so he would lose
it.. ...

4 PM Pa came from down town & says the secesh sent the Mayor
word that they were certainly all going tonight & wanted him to have out
a citizen police to guard the town from stragglers. I believe there will be a
meeting held for the purpose at 7 o clock. . . . About 6 PM some 400
prisoners were brought in & lodged in the court house. They were mostly
or all stragglers taken on the different roads & teamsters of a wagon train
which the secesh captured. They were paroled & I suppose will start
tomorrow for Cincinnati. They say the guard treated them very well until
near the place when they took away all their blankets & every cent of
pocket money they happened to have. Three wounded men were also
brought in at the same time to the hospital no 2 (or rather to the part of
the Dormitory that our men occupy). . . .

The citizens went at 7 oclock to the meeting at the Phoenix hotel® (as
the secesh hold the court house) but the secesh sent them word “that a
sufficient military force had arrived tonight to guard the town & the
citizens neednt trouble themselves.”

1. A Lexington landmark, the Phoenix Hotel stood at the corner of Main and Lime-
stone Streets. See Kleber, ed., The Kentucky Encyclopedia, 719-20.

Sunpay OcT 12 [1862]

... The reason the secesh asked for a citizen guard last night was that
some of them were afraid the negroes would set the town on fire. I don't
believe the rebs had any force here last night, or if they did they went away
before morning, for this morning there were only 10 or 12 at the court-
house & they had their horses ready saddled as if about to go. . . .

I saw one of the waiters from Phoenix hotel this evening. He says that
when the rebels first came they wanted Col Worley to take down the
union flag that was on the hotel. The Col told them they had the power.
They could go & take it down themselves if they wanted to, but nothing
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could make him do it. That he would “die in torments” before he would
lower that flag. So they got some one else to take it down & even then the
Col threatened them so that they did not destroy the flag, but allowed him
to keep it. (Only tell this, as Col Worley has always been thought to be
rather “weak kneed” & though it is from a black man, I want to see if it
will prove correct that the Col is strong union). He also said that last night
... After supper the secesh called for whiskey. The Col refused at first
telling them he had been ordered not to sell any to secesh soldiers. But
they would have it & more than that it must be bottled, & they wouldnt
pay near the value even in script. & as soon as they had emptied the bottles
threw them out of the windows. In short they went on in such a manner
that the Col did not know what they might do next & ordered all the
servants except a few who had to wait on them, to keep out of their way. . ..
John Dudley was riding about today with a sword in one hand & a pistol
in the other followed by some others, stealing all the wagons & horses they
could find. ...

MonpAy OcT 13TH [1862]

... Our neighbor Mr Hardesty® (secesh) sent off some of his family:
this morning. Miss Hardesty on a horse & Mrs. Hardesty with the baby &
another of the young ladies riding in a cart . . . The secesh are driving their
sick out of the hospitals today telling them to “make their way to Knoxville
the best way they can”. ...

... I heard a little incident to day that shows very plainly the
cowardice of the rebels. A small party of them went to a place a few
miles from town, for the purpose of horse stealing & told the overseer to
show them where the horses were. This the man agreed to do if they
would let him take his rifle with him. When they came to the lot the
horses were in “There they are’ said the overseer, ‘you can help yourselves,
but the first man that gets down from his saddle will have a hole made
through him’ and although there were four or five to one they turned tail
and galloped off, without making the least attempt to get any of the
horses. . ..

1. Forty-two-year-old Henry Hardesty, a soap and candle manufacurer, lived with
his wife and seven children near the Peter family. See Eighth Census of the United
States for Fayette County, 1860, Schedule 1, 599.
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TuespAy OcT 14TH 1862

The rebels took down all their flags about 9 last night.! 8 AM the
rebels are all gone they say & several union flags raised. Before they went
Mr Charley Polk? & several other young men went to the Phoenix hotel to
look around. While they were walking about there looking at the register
& amusing themselves a party of rebels came up & ordered them to leave
the hotel. Mr P. told them he would when he was ready & not until &
didnt go till he was ready. Then he went to Beards stable where a number
of union men were assembled. In [the] meantime this same party of rebels
went to Mr. McCrackens stable® & began stealing horses. Their Captain
found them out & called out for some one to arrest them. The Union men
came & took two or three of them & found among the stolen horses, the
rebel captains horse, which his own men had stolen. The rest of the gang
ran down a back street where they had two or three horses ready saddled
& bridled but the Union men took two of the horses. The rebel captain
was so angry at their stealing his horse that he gave the men entirely into
the power of the Union men to be punished for the theft. & so they were
put in jail till they could be sent to Frankfort to the penitentiary. . . . They
are going to put our sick in the session room near the Episcopal church.*
MLr. Jameson has taken possession of the hospitals & is preparing to have
them cleaned. . ..

The standing joke of the day is this. “Beau” Barkley as he is called,
who within the last two years married to one of Mr. Alex Brands daugh-
ters, the other day took a notion to visit Camp Dick.’ So he borrowed a
horse & two servants from his father-in-law & set off. Every thing went
well & he made his journey in safety but when about starting to return, his
horse & servants were not to be found. Accordingly he bought a fine horse
from one of the rebels & came home. On his arrival he found that the
servants had come back before him with the horses. The fun of the thing
was that the horse he had bought turned out to be the very one that had
been stolen from Mr. Dudley Craig a few weeks ago, & that gentleman
saw it & claimed it, & it had to be returned to him.

WEe heard that one or two rebels took down one of the Union flags
(belonged to a Mr. Harris, I think) & dragged it about at the horses tails.
Nothing was done by the Union men for they say that there was a com-
pany of Bufords men who had stopped just outside town & it was thought
they only wanted some pretext to do mischief. . ..

A woman told us she had seen some of our men in town today & they
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said some of our cavalry would be in tonight. I will believe that when I see
it. We hear reports like that every day. Mrs. Morgan said “the Union
people had better not be putting up flags so soon. John Morgan will be in
tonight with 1500 men.” Mrs. Duke wanted her to go away from here
with her but she refused & said (so they say) that the Union people might
take every brick in the house away but she wouldnt leave. About 20
stragglers (rebels) came in tonight & made them get supper for them at
the Phoenix.

The secesh told Messr. Fitch, Harrison & John Wilson® to go to the
hospital & take medical stores enough to pay them for what had been
bought of them by the rebel doctors as they reckoned they hadnt been
payed & wouldnt be. So they might take the things back. It is likely the
secesh dont intend to return the same things taken from the druggists but
to pass on them the stores left by our men at the hospitals. Our sick were
all moved to the session rooms this evening. The women nurses (some of
them) are still allowed to wait on them.

1. Following the battle of Perryville, Federal troops reoccupied Lexington on Octo-
ber 16, 1862. See Perrin, History of Fayette County, Kentucky, 462.

2. Charles E. Polk made watches and jewelry in Lexington. See Williams’ Lexington
City Guide, 91, and Williams’ Lexington City Directory, 78.

3. William McCracken’s stable was on the north side of Short between Walnut and
Mulberry Streets. See Williams’ Lexington City Directory, 68.

4. Commonly referred to as Christ Church, located in the northeast corner of Church
and Market Streets. See Williams® Lexington City Directory, 16.

5. During Kentucky’s neutrality crisis, Unionists began to organize troops in camps
of instruction. Camp Dick Robinson, twenty-six miles south of Lexington, was the
largest. See Kleber, ed., The Kentucky Encyclopedia, 157-58.

6. Frank and Fred Fitch, T.J. Harrison, and John S. Wilson operated drug and apoth-
ecary shops in Lexington. See Williams’ Lexington City Directory, 49,57, 92.

WEDNESDAY OcT 15TH [1862]

... Mrs. Williams! related an incident to us which shows the state in
which the rebels were sent from the hospital a few days ago when they
were hurr[yling them off so. Mr. Vorhees saw one of the poor fellows stop
& sit down at his door & he came out & asked him what was the matter.
“I'm sick” said the man. “Where are you from?” “The hospital.” Why you
are certainly not discharged. It is not customary to discharge men until
they are cured. I'm not cured, thats certain, but they told me to go. “Go, go
where.” “I dont know” said the poor fellow sadly, “they told me to go to
the devil.” We heard that a good many of the poor fellows who were sent
out so weak they could hardly stand, died in the streets. . . . A good many
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of the sick didn’t want to leave at all & some of them shut themselves up
in a room & refused to let any one come in. A squad of men were sent to
force them, but they wouldnt be forced & persisted until they carried their
point & were allowed to stay. They broke up the guns at hospital no 1
today & also the new stoves which our doctors had had to send to Cincin-
nati to get. . ..

We heard that John Morgan & Bragg had quarreled. Bragg wanted to
dismount Morgans men for 60 days & let them serve as infantry. Morgan
refused & withdrew his command from the army & is now acting “on his
own hook.” John Morgan it seems isn’t fond of putting himself in the post
of danger. A lady stopped a rebel & pretending to be a secesh made a good
many inquiries of him. Among other things she remarked that J. Morgan
was a brave man. “A brave man” said the rebel “he’s the greatest coward 1
know. When his division is on a march he doesnt lead his men like other
officers do. He rides behind in an ambulance.” I have heard some ladies
say they had seen him do it. That he rode in one the last time his men left
here.

There is a story afloat that for the last few weeks back a wounded man
has been staying at Mrs. Morgans about whom there was a great deal of
mystery. That when even the doctor came to dress his wound the patients
face was always covered & he never spoke, which made people think it
must be some great man. Monday night when Mrs. Duke left an
ambulance followed her from Mrs. Morgans which was supposed to
contain this person. But all this may be “much ado about nothing” for
anything I know. . ..

1. Possibly Mrs. S.R. Williams, principal of the Sayre Female Institute, which was
used as a hospital. See Williams’ Lexington City Directory, 92.

2. Basil W. Duke, Thomas Connelly, and Grady McWhiney mention such a dispute.
Morgan began his Second Kentucky Raid on October 17. See Duke, History of
Morgan’s Cavalry, 280-81.

THURSDAY OcT 16 [1862]

... I heard a very rich story on Col. Wm Hart this evening. When the
rebels were all through the country some of them went to his house in
Woodford Co. & asked for something to eat. “Havent got a thing in the
house. I'm as poor as Jobs turkey, havent got a thing to give you,” said the
Col. So the men went on to the house of a poor widow who lived near &
she gave them something. While there they saw two large wagon loads of
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bacon pass & asked the driver who they belonged to. “To Col. Hart.”
“Then” said the secesh “we’ll have to confiscate them for the use of the
confederate government.” Again not long ago a body of federals went to
his house & asked if he had any government property on his place. “No
indeed” he said “he hadnt a single thing.” (Now when the rebels took
possession of Lex. he had come up here & taken off a good many things).
The soldiers said they would have to search & in the garret they found
1000 pounds of bacon, several hundred barrels of flour, tents, clothing &
6000 rounds of ammunition. “Well” said they “you deceived us about the
stores now we will have to look if you havent got some government stock.”
And sure enough they found several mules marked U.S.. So Col Hart was
sent to Frankfort to be tried, but Gen. Dumont! thought it was more a
civil than a military affair & gave him over to the authorities who made
him give bail to a large amount. . ..

It seems that there is a body of our cavalry camped on Suttons farm. . . .
Some gentlemen rode out to see them. We heard Col. Worley went &
came back perfectly intoxicated with delight & perhaps with something
else, for he treated the ladies & gentlemen at his hotel all round & then
brought his horse (which is a beautiful creature & a great pet of his) into
the barroom & treated it also. . . .

1. General Ebenezer Dumont (1814-1871), a lawyer, politician, and Mexican War
veteran from Indiana, commanded the 12th Division in the Army of the Ohio. See
Warner, Generals in Blue, 132-33.

Fripay OcT 17TH [1862]

... Davy Sayre said that while Col Gracie was here he saw a black
book that he (Col Gracie) kept in which were marked down the names of
everybody, whether they were union or secesh, & what they had been
doing for the last 9 months back against the Confederacy & even the
division in families.

We all were saying one day that the meanest man in town ought to
take down the rebel flags when they went away & all of us decided that
Jack Keiser was the man. And sure enough the other night when the
secesh left they paid Keiser to take their flags down for them. . ..

12 AM some cavalry came in, some of our men . . . Mr. Henry
Duncans' black boy went by late this evening grinning from ear to ear &
told us his “master” had come home.
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1. Mr. Henry Duncan Sr. lived at the northeast corner of Mulberry and Winchester
Streets. His son, Henry Jr., was a neighbor of the Peter family on Market Street. See
Williams’ Lexington City Directory, 45.

SATURDAY OCT 18TH 1862

About daybreak some 1500 of Morgans guerilla came galloping in &
they surprised our men who were camped at James Clays,! & a fight took
place in which we had six wounded & two killed as far as I can learn. Our
men then fell back to the Courthouse intending to make a stand there &
shut themselves up in it, but Col. Worley sent them word the rebels were
going to shell the place . . . and at last our men surrendered, for what could
400 do against 1500 with artillery as they thought they had. If our men
hadnt been surprised they might perhaps have done better but they had
been in the saddle 50 days & were worn out. They placed pickets on all the
roads & even sat up all night, but towards morning everything being quiet
& no enemy in sight, they went to sleep, still leaving pickets out. The
rebels didnt come by the roads but sneaked in across fields & by paths
around the pickets & so surprised them. It was foolish to send such a small
force here. A good many people think it was Worleys fault. That night he
was drunk & took his horse in the barroom he sent a courier with dis-
patches to Louisville saying Kirby Smith had surrendered & that Lexing-
ton was in the possession of the Federals when there were no federal
soldiers here outside the hospital & then fined himself $10 & paid it. The
rebels took down the fine flags belonging to Col. Worley & Mr. Fitch. I
don’t know what they did with Worleys, but Fitch’s was saved in this way.
Miss Ella Bishop was standing by when they took it down & she asked
them to give it to her. They thought she was a secesh & did so & she
started to go home. Some one called to the rebels & told them she was
Union so they sent a squad of men to her house to get the flag but she
wouldnt give it up.

A great many citizens who came home yesterday had to go again
today. Mr. H. Duncan escaped in safety. The secesh were hunting every-
where for Capts. Postlethwaite & Wilgus threatening to hang them if they
caught them.

I don’t know how many of the rebels were killed or wounded. Nash
Morgan and another were brought to Mrs. Morgans. The other was
moved somewhere else but Nash Morgan was so badly wounded in the
neck that he couldn’t be moved & Dr Bush says he cant live. I think the
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rebels lost more than they gained for Nash Morgan is one of their best
officers & always takes the lead & is not a coward like John.

Two of our soldiers came here about 12 AM. They had their side arms
& wanted Pa to take them, but he told them he couldnt as he was under
parole himself. So Ma took them & concealed them. The men came back
afterward to get them among others. . . . They said the rebels hardly took
time to parole them right & treated them just like dogs. Took all their
things away from them & even struck & shot at some after they had
surrendered. . . .

Old Jack Keiser was boasting today that he knew last evening the
rebels were coming, & no doubt a good many secesh knew it. They say
some of Morgans men were in town yesterday disguised & with federal
uniforms on. . . . Tom Major was in town when our men came in yesterday
& shortly after left & was back again today. It is thought he was acting as a
spy. The secesh ladies are in high glee but the gentlemen dont seem to be
much more delighted to see Morgan than the Union people. . ..

Col. Worleys brother who is one of Morgans men? was at the hotel
yesterday sick they say. Worley made a speech yesterday when his flag was
put up & said “he had no words to express his gratitude at seeing that flag
up again & that if a shred of it should be hurt he hoped his life might lay
low.” And today he was over at Mrs. Morgans as large as life, talking away.
I dont know how people can be such double dealers. Mr. Davy Sayre too
stopped John Morgan on the street & shook hands as if he was delighted
to see him. Rebels didn’t stay long. They were all gone at 4% PM. We also
heard that when the rebels passed along Broadway they were fired upon
from the houses.

1. Colonel Basil Duke’s 2nd Kentucky Cavalry attacked the 4th Ohio Cavalry, en-
camped at Ashland (the Clay estate). Morgan remained in Lexington for the day
before leaving for Versailles to the south. See Duke, History of Morgans Cavalry,
283-87.

2. Colonel Worley's brother may have been either James W. Worley of the 2nd Ken-
tucky Cavalry, or ].T. Worley of the 7th Kentucky Cavalry. See Janet B. Hewett, ed.,
The Roster of Confederate Soldiers: 1861-1865 (Wilmington, North Carolina: Broadfoot
Publishing Company, 1996), 16:502.

SunpAY OcT 191H [1862]

... Capt Ferrie was taken prisoner. The story goes that when he
reported himself to Mrs Morgans they were all at breakfast & John . ..
told him he didn’t intend to parole him, but to take him south with him.
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Capt Ferrie replied he might do what he liked; kill him if he chose, but for
every drop of his blood there would be a thousand shed in Lexington. Mrs
Morgan became alarmed & begged John to let him go, which he did at
last.

The guerillas left by the Versailles road, & there is a report today that
Morgan was met by 1800 of our men from Frankfort & cut to pieces. The
fight took place between Versailles & the [Kentucky] river. Our infantry
were in wagons & Morgan mistaking them most likely for a baggage train
attacked them, when our cavalry came up & charged him & the fight
became general. The rebels lost 180 killed & 300 paroled. . . .!

They say that yesterday Mrs. ] Wilgus® had a fight with three gueril-
las. It was very early in the morning & none of the family were up when
three guerillas came to see if the Capt was at home. When Mrs Wilgus
heard it was guerillas she guessing what they wanted wouldnt let the Capt
go down but slipping on a wrapper went to the door herself. The men
asked if the Capt was at home. She told them “no.” They replied that they
knew he was & tried to get in. She pushed them back & struggled with
them till she got his gun away from one of them. He took it away from
her; again she got possession of it & said if she only knew how to use it
she would blow his brains out & tried to pull the trigger but couldnt. He
got it from her again & started round to the stable to look at the horses.
She followed them talking to them all the time & kept them there until
Capt Wilgus had had time to make his escape. . . .

1. Morgan camped on the Kentucky River the night of his pass through Lexington.
His troops, however, were driven away at 1 A.M. by pursuing Federal cavalry and
infantry. They were surprised, but not cut to pieces. See Duke, History of Morgan’s
Cavalry,287-88.

2. Mrs. J. Wilgus, wife of a Lexington grocer and commission agent, lived on the
north side of Short Street between Broadway and Jefferson Streets. See Williams’
Lexington City Directory, 92.

TuespAy OcTt 21sT [1862]

... I forgot to mention the other day in telling about Mrs. Wilgus,
that while she was contending with the rebels one of their capts passed by
& swore at them and asked why the devil they didnt let the woman alone
& look for Capt Wilgus & one of them replied, that he'd better come &
try it himself. That it was easier said than done. . ..

My brother came home today from Louisville where he has been
during the last 6 or 7 weeks . . . said Col Davis hadn’t had any thing done
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to him for killing Nelson;! that Davis & Nelson hadn’t been on good terms
for a long time. That Davis had the command of the provost guard under
Nelson & when he went to report to Nelson the latter found fault with
him for not having more men & said he didnt make arrest fast enough &
he deserved to be kicked out of town by his own provost guard. Davis
demanded an explanation & Nelson slapped him on the face. Again Davis
came & asked for an apology & again Nelson slapped him & Davis not
being able to stand it any longer went out & got a pistol from a soldier &
came back & shot Nelson.

Jack and Jim Keiser were both arrested today. Jim on charge of stealing
Uncle Sams blankets & Jack for what I didn't hear. The soldiers also took a
quantity of stolen groceries, etc. from their house & John Dudleys.

Mr. Shaw they said didnt lose all his stock. That he hid a good many
of the newest. There is a story which is a standing joke about town, of a
good bargain he made off a secesh during the “invasion.” One day a rebel
came in his store to buy a hat. Mr. Shaw brought out one that had been on
hand for several years & was entirely out of fashion & told him that there
was a hat that would suit him exactly, a beautiful hat, latest fashion, just
come out from Paris & worth $10 at least (it was in fact worth only $2 or
3 when it was in fashion). Well said secesh, thats rather high but if its the
latest fashion I suppose I must get it. Mr. Shaw protested it was extremely
fashionable & that he was selling it at a losing price, etc. Secesh asked if he
had any sort of a cord & tassel or feather to put in it. Mr. Shaw didnt have
any but showed him a small brass ornament such as some of our soldiers
loop their hats up with & told him that was all the rage now & it would
never do to be without one. Secesh wanted to know the price. “Let me see”
said Mr Shaw “I think it $3, isn’t it George[”] (to his clerk). “Oh yes” he
replied “certainly it worth 3 dollars at least (it was only worth 10 cents).
Well said secesh, I'll take it too but I havent got any kind of money but
“greenbacks.” Would you take them. Oh, said Shaw, as you are a soldier I

suppose I'll have to accommodate you. . ..

Gen Wright is in no very good order with the Kentucky people at
present. They are dreadfully impatient at his tardiness. After the battle of
Richmond 7 or 8 weeks ago, & the report we heard of his wanting to
evacuate Kentucky entirely a good many persons have doubted his loyalty.
In fact since the rebels have been here, I have heard no one speak in his
favor & nothing but a splendid victory over the rebels will restore confi-
dence in him. . ..

e 69



The Diary of Frances Peter

1. After a dispute between General William Nelson and General Jefferson C. Davis,
the latter was relieved of command following the battle of Richmond. When Davis
encountered Nelson at the Galt House in Louisville on September 29, 1862, an
argument ensued, and Davis shot and mortally wounded Nelson. Though Davis was
imprisoned, he was released without trial and joined Buell's army during Bragg’s
invasion of Kentucky. Davis never faced charges and became a respected Federal
corps commander. See Faust, ed., Historical Times Illustrated Encyclopedia of the Civil
War, 201-8,523.

WEDNESDAY OcCT 22ND [1862]

... Mrs. Curd . .. thinks the Union ladies ought to have been
drummed over the lines. Mrs. John Dudley also expressed a similar
charitable feeling. . . . The secesh had one of the city schools for a hospital
& left it in such a condition that there isnt a nigger in town who has up to
this time been found bold enough to undertake the job of cleaning it. The
bed clothes, etc. used by the rebels (which by the way belonged to the Aid
Society) will never again be fit for any thing but the flames. . . .

FripAY OcT 24TH [1862]

. .. Speaking of secesh two were buried today from hospital No 2.
They die off very fast & no wonder, they keep themselves & everything
about them so dirty. I wonder any get well. Cart loads of dirt were taken
out of the court yard & the cellars at hospital No 2 are so dirty that it be
almost impossible to get them cleaned. Not quite as bad however, as
hospital No 1. The filth up there is beyond mention. ...

Last Saturday we heard when Morgan was here there were a good
many of the union prisoners he had taken in the jail & he threatened to
hang a good many. Mr. Madison C Johnson® went down to the jail so they
say & made a speech there to the secesh in favor of the prisoners & among
other things said the secesh could hang them, most certainly they could if
they felt inclined. They had the power & we were not strong enough to
prevent them, but if they did it would be a most woeful day for them (the
secesh) a day they would regret to their dying day, and made them some
dreadful threats. The secesh didnt hang any one. . ..

When the rebels were here they all declared they would rather to a
man leave their dead bodies here than endure again the hardship they
suffered in crossing the mountain country to get into the state & said they
would object very much if they were forced to leave this state to return by
the same way they came. .. 2
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... “rumor with her hundred tongues” is very busy with Gen. Buells
fame. People are much dissatisfied & one says this & another that. Some
say Buell is Braggs brother-in-law & for that reason he allowed him to
escape & many other things of the same sort. I dont like to think ill of any
of our officers. I would like them all to prove heroes of the first class & I
dont intend to believe anything against Buell until I have proof positive &
I hope he will by his deeds give the lie direct to all such scandals & show
himself to be “all our fancy painted him.”

1. Madison C. Johnson, lawyer, professor of law at Transylvania University, and presi-
dent of the Northern Bank of Kentucky, later was elected to the presidency of the
Law College of the Agricultural and Mechanical College. See Ranck, History of Lex-
ington, 60.

2.géonfederate armies in Kentucky withdrew through London and the Cumberland
Gap, the same route Kirby Smith had taken upon entering the state. See Connelly,
Army of the Heartland, 212-80.

SaTurDpAY OcCT 25 [1862]

We had today the pleasure of reading once more the Observer and
Reporter! which has resumed circulation. The schools will be resumed next
week and Lexington is generally returning to her former state Of course
until the full communication with Louisville & Cincinnati is restored
(which will be in a few days nothing preventing) every thing is very scarce
& there is little or no silver in circulation I am sorry it is such a bad, cold,
sleety day, on account of our soldiers.

1. During the Confederate occupation of Lexington in September and early October
1862, General Morgan made the Observer and Reporter office his headquarters. Print-
ers under his command operated the presses and turned out handbills, pamphlets,
and military forms for the army. See Coulter, The Civil War and Readjustment in
Kentucky, 452; Williams’ Lexington City Directory, 18; and Perrin, History of Fayette
County, Kentucky, 460—62.

SunpAY OcT 26TH [1862]

There were about 75 of our sick taken to Hospital No 2 the other
evening. The hospital is not all cleaned yet but there were one or two
rooms in the third story ready for them. . . . Mr. Wickliffe said he would
have issued his paper two weeks ago but Morgan had used his office for
his headquarters & printing office . . . and left the rooms & types in such a
state of dirt & confusion that it took two weeks to put them in any sort of
order.

The secesh citizens who went with the rebel army & the recruits that
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they got from around here seem to be returning.! One was arrested today
& we hear of the return of other through the country.

Some one told me today the following account of the way Mr. Davy
Coleman? had his horses stolen & got them again. It was on a market day
& before day the black man who was going in to market, came to Mrs.
Coleman & told her that the horse she had ordered him to